Purdue University
Purdue e-Pubs

Open Access Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

8-2018

The Dark Side of High-Quality LMX: Relational Tensions and Their Impacts on Leaders and Members

Lusi Wu Purdue University

Follow this and additional works at: https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_dissertations

Recommended Citation

Wu, Lusi, "The Dark Side of High-Quality LMX: Relational Tensions and Their Impacts on Leaders and Members" (2018). *Open Access Dissertations*. 2103. https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_dissertations/2103

This document has been made available through Purdue e-Pubs, a service of the Purdue University Libraries. Please contact epubs@purdue.edu for additional information.

THE DARK SIDE OF HIGH-QUALITY LMX: RELATIONAL TENSIONS AND THEIR IMPACTS ON LEADERS AND MEMBERS

by

Lusi Wu

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



Krannert School of Management West Lafayette, Indiana August 2018

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Brian R. Dineen, Chair

Department of Management

Dr. Kelly Schwind Wilson

Department of Management

Dr. Brad Alge

Department of Management

Dr. Rong Su

Department of Management and Organizations

Approved by:

Dr. Yanjun Li

Head of the Graduate Program

This dissertation is dedicated to my ever supportive and encouraging parents, who are always with me no matter how difficult the challenges are.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This dissertation would never be possible without the support of my parents, mentors, and friends. My mother, Chengqiong Yan, for all these years, has done all she can to protect me from all the difficulties our family face and give me a supportive environment to pursue my dreams. It is her unconditional love, support, and encouragement that make me determined to start and complete my Ph.D. study. My father, Jincheng Wu, has always loved me the way he best could.

I am so lucky to have such a wonderful committee. Dr. Brian R. Dineen, thank you so much for being my advisor since I came to Purdue. You are really a role model of mine. You have taught me how to be a good scholar, a developmental mentor, and a kind person. Dr. Kelly Wilson and Dr. Brad Alge, thank you for your constructive suggestions and comments that help me polish this research and maximize the contribution of it. Dr. Rong Su, thank you for being so warm and supportive all the time. It is really a pleasure to discuss research ideas in Chengdu dialect with you. To my friends in OBHR program at Krannert, thank you for being with me during this long journey. With you all, the journey becomes more colorful and wonderful.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ii
LIST OF FIGURES i	ix
ABSTRACT	x
INTRODUCTION	1
Findings of LMX	3
THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS	9
Relational Dialectics Theory and Contradictions in Interpersonal Relationships	9
Tensions and Close Relationships in the Workplace1	. 1
Tensions and Close Leader-Member Relationships 1	3
Tensions and High-Quality LMX 1	9
OVERVIEW OF STUDIES	21
PILOT STUDY	22
Pilot Study Method	22
Grounded Theory Approach	22
Samples	23
Data Collection Procedures	25
Pilot Study Data Analysis	26
Pilot Study Results	27
Leader Tensions	27
Member Tensions	0
Pilot Study Discussion	3
STUDY 1: LMX TENSIONS SCALE DEVELOPMENT	6
Item Generation	6
Item Reduction	6
Participants and Procedure	7
Results	7
Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)	8
Leader LMX Tension	8

Participants and Procedure	
Results	
Member LMX Tension	
Participants and Procedure	
Results	
Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)	
Leader Tensions	
Participants and Procedure	
Measures	
Analysis and Results	
Member Tensions	
Participants and Procedure	
Measures	
Analysis and Results	
Convergent Validity and Discriminant Validity	
Convergent Validity	
Discriminant Validity	
Sample and Measures	
Results	
STUDY 2: EXPERIENCE OF LMX TENSIONS AND CONSEQUENCES	57
Study 2 Method	
Sample and Procedures	
Measures	66
Study 2 Results	69
Leader Outcomes	69
Member Outcomes	
Study 2 Discussion	
GENERAL DISCUSSION	
Theoretical Implications	
Practical Implications	
Limitations and Future Research	

CONCLUSION	102
REFERENCES	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Summaries of dialectical relational tensions in general interpersonal relationships,
workplace friendships, and leader-member friendships16
Table 2: Items of Leader LMX Tensions
Table 3: Items of Member LMX Tensions 45
Table 4: Descriptive Statistics, Reliabilities, and Correlations from Leader Validity Data 56
Table 5: Descriptive Statistics, Reliabilities, and Correlations from Member Validity Data 56
Table 6: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations between Variables-Leader Data77
Table 7: Relationships between DIR, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 8: Relationships between FAV, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes 79
Table 9: Relationships between DEP, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 10: Indirect Effects of Leader LMX Tensions on Outcomes via Negative Affect and Stress
Table 11: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations between Variables-Member Data 82
Table 12: Relationships between CBC, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes 83
Table 13: Relationships between WLD, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 14: Relationships between WQE, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 15: Relationships between WAR, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 16: Relationships between WLB, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 17: Relationships between WLB, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
Table 18: Indirect Effects of Member LMX Tensions on Outcomes via Negative Affect and Stress

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Hypothesized Model on the Outcomes of LMX Tensions	58
Figure 2: Results of Path Analysis for the Consequences of Leader LMX Tensions	92
Figure 3: Results of Path Analysis for the Consequences of Leader LMX Tensions	93

ABSTRACT

Author: Wu, Lusi. PhD
Institution: Purdue University
Degree Received: August 2018
Title: The Dark Side of High-Quality LMX: Relational Tensions and Their Impacts on Leaders and Members
Major Professor: Brian Dineen

As one of the most popular approaches to study leadership, the leader-member exchange (LMX) theory focuses on the dyadic relationship between a leader and a member (Gerstner & Day, 1997; Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). It posits that supervisors develop different forms of exchange relationships with followers (Sparrowe & Liden, 1997). Low quality LMX is more like economic exchange based on mutually agreed on duties, while high quality LMX is characterized by trust, support, loyalty, and commitment (Uhl-Bien & Maslyn, 2003). Past LMX studies have documented and supported many positive outcomes for high-quality LMX subordinates, such as higher job satisfaction, organizational commitment, in-role and extra-role performance, and lower levels of stress (Dulebohn et al., 2012; Ferris et al., 2009; Gerstner & Day, 1997). Though it is intriguing to believe that high-quality LMX does only good to members and leaders, there may be more to the story. Being an interpersonal relationship, LMX should suffer the same tensions all interpersonal relations have. Moreover, because relationship power differs between leaders and members, members may face less freedom in choice and greater pressure to maintain the relationship (Keltner, Gruenfeld, & Anderson, 2003; Inesi, Gruenfeld, & Galinsky, 2012; Rios, Fast, & Gruenfeld, 2015). Indeed, theories indicate that high quality LMX can be stressful to employees due to feelings of uncertainty and lack of control (Henderson, Liden, Glibkowsk, & Chaudhry, 2009; Liden & Graen, 1980). However, such viewpoints mainly

serve as theoretical arguments to support the main propositions in the mentioned studies without systematic discussion or empirical support. Beneficial aspects of high-quality LMX still dominate the LMX literature, leaving the potential dark side of high-quality LMX understudied.

According to *Relational Dialectics Theory (DRT)*, interpersonal relationships are by nature paradoxical, and the management of dialectical tensions between relational partners is central to the conduct and interpretation of relationship development and loss (Baxter, 1990, 2004; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998). Across a pilot study and two primary studies, this dissertation investigated relational tensions leaders and members experience in high-quality LMX (e.g., high-quality LMX denotes a close connection between leaders and members, but this close connection can detract members' autonomy when facing leaders' extra demands and expectations) and their effects on leaders and members. Specifically, the pilot study explored the relational tensions leaders and members experience in LMX through an open-ended survey question and in-depth interviews. In study 1, I developed and validated two scales of LMX tensions (one of leader tensions and one of member tensions) based on the pilot study results and extant literature. Using scales developed, study 2 investigated the influences of LMX tensions on leaders and members.

This dissertation contributes to the LMX literature in several ways. First, by demonstrating tensions inherent in high-quality LMX, it illuminates the potential costs for both members and leaders in high LMX relationships, despite the well-supported benefits. Second, as both leaders' and members' LMX tensions in high-quality LMX and their outcomes were considered in the hypothesized model, the current dissertation answers the call for more research on "what about leaders?" in LMX (Liden, Sparrowe, & Wayne, 1997; Wilson, Sin, & Conlon, 2010). Third, according to DRT, relational contradictions drive changes in relationships (Baxter, 2004; Sias, 2006). More specifically, LMX tensions in high-quality LMX can be stressful, which damages leader-member relationship satisfaction and commitment and gives rise to LMX disengagement intentions. Thus, although I will not study this empirically, it still shed light on LMX quality change and decline by examining how LMX tensions relate to intentions to disengage from LMX.

INTRODUCTION

"Darkness is an integral part of relationship"

-- Perlman & Carcedo, 2010, p. 2

The scientific exploration of leadership has proceeded ever since the birth of management science. Much research effort has focused on leaders, investigating how their traits and behaviors influence leadership effectiveness (e.g., Trait Theories, Stogdill, 1974; Behavior Theories of Leadership, Blake & Mouton, 1964), and how effective leadership behaviors are contingent on specific situations (e.g., Contingency Model, Fiedler, 1967). Follower-centric theories switch the focus from leaders to followers to explore various perspectives on how followers contribute meaningfully to effective leadership processes (Day, 2014). For example, as "a dynamic, interactive influence process among individuals in groups for which the objective is to lead one another to the achievement of group or organizational goals or both" (Pearce & Conger, 2003, p. 1), shared leadership is broadly distributed to team members rather than localized in one specific individual to hold the role of team leader (Pearce & Conger, 2003). The dyadic-centric approach concentrates neither on leaders nor followers, but on the dyadic relationship between them (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1980; Erdogan & Bauer, 2014). The fundamental theory of this approach, Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) theory, contends that effective leadership can be achieved through development of effective leadership relationships (Leadership Making, Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995).

First introduced as Vertical Dyadic Linkage (VDL) theory, LMX theory challenges two assumptions of traditional leadership theory (Dansereau, Graen, & Haga, 1975; Day &

Miscenko, 2016). First, unlike assuming members under the same supervisor have homogenous perceptions, interpretations, and reactions, LMX theory argues members bring differing levels of competence and motivation. Second, LMX contends that supervisors do not keep an *average leadership style*, or the same prescribed manner of relating to every subordinate. Instead, leaders form different types of relationships with their various subordinates with differentiated quality (Dansereau et al., 1975; Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1980, 1995).

Specifically, this differentiation results from a role making process (Graen & Scandura, 1987). The leader tries to learn about members' skills, talents, motivations, and limits through different assignments. How the member responds to these assignments provides the leader with important information about the member's potential for unstructured tasks and determines the leader's next investment in the relationship. Gradually in day-to-day leader-member interactions, the leader and the member evolve in terms of how each will behave in problematic situations. A shared understanding governing the appropriate transactions between them is formed. The nature of their dyadic relationship is defined. Over time, dyadic understanding becomes routinized through the process of collaborating closely on different unstructured tasks.

Besides role theory, social exchange theory (Blau, 1964) constitutes a solid theoretical foundation for LMX as well. According to social exchange theory, a relationship starts when one party offers a favor to the other party. The norm of reciprocation dictates that one repays the other's favor within a reasonable time period (Gouldner, 1960). The favor offering and reciprocation process nurtures trust building between the two parties, turning an "economic exchange" into a "social exchange" relationship. Hence, social exchange relationships between leaders and members are high-quality LMX characterized by trust, respect, loyalty, and obligation (Graen & Scandura, 1987; Uhl-Bien & Maslyn, 2003; Dulebohn et al., 2012).

Economic exchange relationships between leaders and members are based on mutually agreed on duties and are considered to be low-quality LMX (Uhl-Bien & Maslyn, 2003).

Findings of LMX

Over the past four decades, our understanding of LMX has accumulated. Extant studies demonstrate that personality, competence, and behaviors of either leaders or members can independently influence the formation of high-quality LMX (Dulebohn et al., 2012; Gerstner & Day, 1997; Lapierre & Hackett, 2007). For example, member conscientiousness, internal locus of control, agreeableness, extraversion, positive affectivity, proactive personality and mastery goal orientation are positively related to LMX quality (e.g., Dulebohn et al., 2012; Lapierre & Hackett, 2007; Li, Liang, & Crant, 2010; Nahrgang, Morgeson, & Ilies, 2009). Member's work performance is found to predict LMX quality (e.g., Bauer & Green, 1996; Lapierre & Hackett, 2007; Gerstner & Day, 1997). Their feedback seeking and ingratiation behaviors enhance LMX development (e.g., Colella & Varma, 2001; Dulebohn et al., 2012; Lam, Huang, & Snape, 2007; Wayne & Ferris, 1990). Leader attributes such as being delegative, empathetic, and ethical are associated with higher LMX quality (e.g., Bauer & Green, 1996; Mahsud, Yukl, & Prussia, 2010; Yukl, O'Donnell, & Taber, 2009; Walumbwa et al., 2011). Their engagement in transformational leadership, keeping psychological contracts, and maintaining fairness in LMX enables desirable relationship quality (Erdogan, Liden, & Kraimer, 2006; Restubog, Bordia, & Bordia, 2011; Wang, Law, Hackett, Wang, & Chen, 2005). Apart from the independent impact of the leader's or the member's attributes, the dyadic similarity in terms of demographics and personality between the leader and the member are also influential in the LMX development process (Basu & Green, 1995; Bauer & Green, 1996; Erdogan & Bauer, 2014; Nahrgang & Seo, 2016).

In addition to the antecedents, the benefits of high-quality LMX are well documented.

High-quality LMX leads to more frequent and better communications between the leader and the member (Mueller & Lee, 2002; Sin, Nahrgang, & Morgeson, 2009). In high-quality LMX dyads, leaders tend to show more mutual influence and persuasion in communications rather than direct authority or manipulation, which is frequently used on low-quality LMX members (Fairhurst & Chandler, 1989; Fairhurst, Rogers, & Sarr, 1987; Yukl & Fu, 1999). High-quality members accordingly are more influential in decision making and report higher psychological empowerment (Chen, Kirkman, Kanfer, Allen, & Rosen, 2007; Chen, Lam, & Zhong, 2007; Liden, Wayne, & Sparrowe, 2000; Scandura, Graen, & Novak, 1986).

Aside from more power-balanced leader-member interactions, high-quality LMX members have access to greater resources in the organizations, such as leader's attention (Dansereau et al., 1975), information (van Dam, Oreg, & Schyns, 2008), decision latitude and autonomy (Graen & Scandura, 1987; Janssen & Van Yperen, 2004), and support (Dienesch & Liden, 1986). They are more likely to be chosen for desirable and challenging tasks (Law, Wong, Wang, & Wang, 2000) and receive more mentoring from leaders (Chen, et al., 2008). Hence, it is not surprising that members with high-quality LMX show higher levels of job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and reduced turnover intention (Dulebohn et al., 2012; Gerstner & Day, 1997). Given that employee feelings about the organization's treatment of employees are largely shaped by the nature of their relationship with their supervisors, high-quality LMX is associated with better evaluations of the organization and more positive attitudes toward the organization (Erdogan & Bauer, 2014). Relative to low-quality members, high-quality members tend to characterize the organization as an employer with greater support for employees (Kraimer, Seibert, Wayne, Liden, & Bravo, 2011), lower levels of organizational politics (Atinc, Darrat, Fuller, & Parker, 2010), and a more positive organizational environment (Ansari, Hung, & Aafaqi, 2007; Mueller & Lee, 2002).

To return the support, help, goods, and services from the leader, the high-quality member displays desired work behaviors including task performance (e.g., Dulebohn et al., 2012; Gerstner & Day, 1997; Chen, Lam, & Zhong, 2007; Liden et al., 2000), organizational citizenship behavior (OCB, e.g., Hofmann, Morgeson, & Gerras, 2003; Ilies, Nahrgang, Morgeson, 2007), creativity (e.g., Atwater & Carmeli, 2009; Liao, Liu, & Loi, 2010; Tierney, Farmer, & Graen, 1999), and reduced work deviance and job withdrawal (e.g., Ballinger, Lehman, & Schoorman, 2010; Townsend, Philips, & Elkins, 2000). Besides, members in highquality LMX report enhanced well-being and less job stress (e.g., Erdogan, Bauer, Truxillo, & Mansfield, 2012; Major & Morganson, 2011; Tordera, González-Romá, & Peiró, 2008). Leaders also benefit from high-quality LMX as subordinates provide greater loyalty, respect, trust and information (Wilson et al., 2010). In summary, it appears that high-quality LMX itself can benefit members, leaders, and organizations.

More recent work examines how the context in which LMX exists affects the influences of LMX on individual followers and the entire work group (Anand, Vidyarthi, & Park, 2016). As people generally prefer equality and consistency to a strong degree of differentiation in the work unit, LMX differentiation reduces employee satisfaction, affective commitment, task performance, and OCB, while it also gives rise to higher turnover intention and more counterproductive work behaviors (Erdogan & Bauer, 2010; Harris, Li, & Kirkman, 2014; Hooper & Martin, 2008; Vidyarthi, Liden, Anand, Erdogan, & Ghosh, 2010). There are mixed findings concerning the associations between LMX differentiation and group outcomes (e.g., Boies & Howell, 2006; Le Blanc & González-Romá, 2012; Liao et al., 2010; Naidoo, Scherbaum, Goldstein, & Graen, 2011). Justice climate (Erdogan & Bauer, 2010), team lifecycle (Naidoo et al., 2011), and general level of LMX in a group (Le Blanc & González-Romá, 2012; Liden, Erdogan, Wayne, & Sparrowe, 2006) are identified as conditions that moderate these relationships.

Another contextual factor examined in LMX research is the social networks the leader and member reside in. Leader's social network shapes LMX quality (Goodwin, Bowler, & Whittington, 2009; Venkataramani, Green, & Schleicher, 2010). For example, leader advice centrality both inside and outside the workgroup is positively related to follower-rated LMX (Goodwin et al., 2009). LMX also has a crucial impact on employee social networks (Sparrowe & Liden, 1997, 2005). Kilduff and Krackhardt (1994) held that close relationship with highstatus individuals such as leaders helps build social networks, as it is beneficial to one's reputation as a high performer. The relationship also makes one more likely to be the recipient of interpersonal citizenship behaviors at work (Bowler & Brass, 2006). Yet some studies suggest that high-quality LMX might not be beneficial, and even harmful to employee social network under certain conditions. Erdogan and her colleagues (2015) found LMX quality was positively associated with advice network centrality only for members with a high tendency to help coworkers and a low tendency to gossip about coworkers. Anderson and Sun's (2015) empirical study indicated that followers were less likely to make efforts to build up connections when they had the opportunity to take advantage of their leaders' social networks like when they have a high-quality LMX with their leaders. Besides, when two members do not share the same quality LMX with their leader (e.g., one has high-quality LMX with the leader and the other has lowquality LMX with the same leader), high-quality LMX could damage team-member exchange between the two members, impairing one's social network (Sherony & Green, 2002).

The studies mentioned above present some of the negative impacts of high-quality LMX in the context of peer groups and teams. This is not surprising, given that LMX differentiation challenges an individual's natural need for fairness and preference for balance. It generates tensions among peers and team members, especially when justice climate is weak (Erdogan & Bauer, 2010; Heider, 1958; Sias & Jablin, 1995). Yet at a dyadic level, empirical evidence dominantly supports the positive effects of the focal individual's own high-quality LMX.

Thus, although it is intriguing to believe high-quality LMX is overwhelmingly positive, there may be more to the story. In Zorn's (1995) qualitative study, employees described situations in which their supervisors had, in their minds, "picked on" them because of their close relationship. For example, employee A explained that she and several other employees were complaining about the arrangement of the office, but her supervisor singled her out for reprimand. Similarly, employee B perceived her supervisor was harder on her because she was the closest and the supervisor knew her better than other subordinates. Bernas and Major's (2000) study suggests that one's commitment to one's supervisor may come at the expense of well-being in the family domain. In other studies, leaders mentioned that it felt harder to say no to close members when they had to for management purposes (Morrison & Nolan, 2007; Sias, 2009). In fact, there are abundant online discussions about the drawbacks of close leader-member relationships. Suggestions on managing close leader-member relationships and even avoiding such relationships can be easily found (e.g., Fortune.com, "Be the Boss, not a Friend"; bbc.com, "Being close to your boss is as dangerous as being enemies").

Indeed, some studies suggest a potential dark side of high-quality LMX. Member's personal identification in the relationship with the leader can foster dependence on the leader (Humber & Rouse, 2016; Kark, Shamir, & Chen, 2003). Over dependency and suffocation

within the relationship can make a mentoring relationship dysfunctional (Ragins & Scandura, 1997). Besides, high-quality LMX engenders greater expectations from leaders (Blau, 1964). High-quality LMX members are likely to have more obligations and roles to fulfill beyond the formal job description (Gouldner, 1960; Henderson et al., 2009; Liden & Graen, 1980). However, these viewpoints are mainly theoretical arguments in theoretical articles or theoretical justifications for hypotheses in empirical studies focusing on other research topics. There is little research concentrating on the potential negatives of high-quality LMX. Systematic investigations and empirical evidence on the dark side of high-quality LMX are lacking.

In summary, extent literature on LMX has so far dominantly documented the benefits of high-quality LMX at dyadic level. Although limited research has recognized that high-quality LMX might exert too many demands on LMX partners and may have negative implications for employees, they have received very little research attention. The potentially negative aspects of high-quality LMX have seldom been the primary focus in this research area. The purpose of this dissertation, then, is to examine the less attractive side of high-quality LMX in greater detail. That is, whereas prior research has generally emphasized the positive features of high-quality LMX, my dissertation explores another view of high-quality LMX. In doing so, my dissertation seeks to provide an important complement to the extant LMX literature.

Accordingly, this dissertation has three primary goals. First, it examines the tensional and constraining experiences high-quality LMX leaders and members have in their relationship. Second, it develops and validates two scales of LMX tensions in high-quality LMX (one scale of leader LMX tensions and one scale of member LMX tensions). Third, using scales developed, it investigates consequences of LMX tensions for both leaders and members, and thus further demonstrates the negative implications of high-quality LMX for LMX partners.

THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS

Relational Dialectics Theory and Contradictions in Interpersonal Relationships

For a long time, relationships have been conceived as homeostatic social systems in unidirectional development toward the states of interdependent connection, openness, and predictability (Baxter, 1990; Altman, Vinsel, & Brown, 1981). Opposing the unidirectional bias in relationship literature, *Relational Dialectics Theory (RDT)* argues that interpersonal relationships are in nature paradoxical and tensions are inherent in interpersonal relationships (Baxter, 1988; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998; Baxter, 2015).

Applying the core concepts of dialectical scholarship in studying interpersonal relationships, RDT posits that there exist opposing yet interdependent forces in any interpersonal relationship (Baxter & Montgomery, 1998). For instance, individuals desire affiliation in a relationship while they also want to keep a level of independence at the same time to maintain individual entity (Eidelson, 1980). The dynamic interplay of the unified opposites creates a contingent, fluid, and changeable relational system (Baxter, 2004; Baxter & Montgomery, 1998). When too much independence in the relationship weakens connection, the need for more affiliation drives people toward affinity-seeking behaviors, resulting in a more balanced affiliation and independence. As such, the relationship partners become increasingly close. With growing affinity-seeking activities, however, affiliation may become too much, such that one will want more independence. Accordingly, one will try to manage this tension by adjusting one's expectation for a relationship or disengaging from some affinity-seeking behaviors. Besides, RDT specially points out that the relational contradictions and change process need to be examined in the context in which the relationship exists. Contradiction should not be separated from its temporal, spatial, and sociocultural settings. The dialectical tensions animating different types of relationships may vary, as the particular details of any relationship differ (Baxter & Montgomery, 1998).

Specifically, RDT contends that three contradictions constitute the primary dialectical forces that partners experience in their interpersonal relationships: *autonomy-connection, openness-closedness, and novelty-predictability* (Baxter 1988, 1990, 2004; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998).

The most central one of these is the *autonomy-connection* contradiction (Baxter, 1990; Baxter & Simon, 1993). Two parties need to forsake individual autonomy to form a relationship, yet too much connection may destroy the relationship because the individual entity is lost. Simultaneously, autonomy can be achieved by separation from others, but too much autonomy damages individual identity, for connections are necessary for identity formation and maintenance (Sprecher & Felmlee, 2000; Sias, 2009; Wendt, 1994).

Openness-closedness contradiction presents the tension to both reveal and conceal information. On the one hand, exchange of information is necessary to build and maintain intimacy in interpersonal relationships (Baxter, 1990; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998; Berger & Bradac, 1982; Cupach, 1992). On the other hand, information disclosure is likely to create risk and vulnerability that can threaten oneself, the relational partner, and the relationship (Bochner, 1982; Rawlins, 1983), necessitating information closedness.

Novelty-predictability describes the desire for both novelty and certainty in relationships. Mutual knowledge and understanding grow as people become closer in relationships, resulting in more predictability that allows control and coordination of behavior between relational partners (Baxter, 1990; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998). However, excessive predictability produces emotional deadening and boredom in a relationship (Byrne & Murnen, 1988; Zimmer, 1986).

These three basic relational tensions have been observed in close relationships such as romantic relationships (e.g., Baxter & Simon, 1993; Baxter & Erbert, 1999; Duran, Kelly, & Rotaru, 2011; Kumashiro, Rusbult, & Finkel, 2008; Hagemeyer, Schönbrodt, Neyer, Neberich, & Asendorpf, 2015; Sahlstein & Dun, 2008), family relationships (e.g., Afifi, 2003; Baxter, 2006; DeGreeff & Burnett, 2009), and friendship (e.g., Baxter, Mazanec et al., 1997; Rawlins, 1992). In different types of interpersonal relationships, the prevalence of these three relational tensions differs. For example, the openness-closedness tension is very common among romantic couples, whereas it is least mentioned by workplace friends (Baxter & Simon, 1993; Bridge & Baxter, 1992). New dialectical tensions specific to a certain relationship usually emerge in exploratory studies (e.g., Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Chen, Drzewiecka, & Sias, 2001). They are found to initiate relationship maintenance or disengagement behaviors, leading to relational change (Cupach, 1992; Sias, 2004, 2009).

Tensions and Close Relationships in the Workplace

In a work setting, the most common close relationships are workplace friendships (Morrison & Wright, 2009; Sias, 2009). Workplace friendships are the friendships between supervisors and subordinates, peer coworkers, and employees and customers (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Morrison & Cooper-Thomas, 2013; Sias et al., 2004; Sias, 2009). They are unique from other workplace relationships in two primary ways. First, workplace friendships are voluntary, with primary purposes being enjoyment and satisfaction (Sias & Cahill 1998; Sias et al., 2003). Second, they have a personalistic focus, such that friends understand and interact with one another as "whole" persons rather than simple role occupants (Sias & Cahill 1998; Sias, Gallagher, Kopaneva, & Pedersen, 2012).

Being in an interpersonal relationship, workplace friends confront all three dialectical tensions inherent in all interpersonal relationships. Meanwhile, because dialectical tensions should not be separated from the context (Baxter & Montgomery, 1998), relationship scholars examined the particular details of workplace friendships formed by the work setting. One feature of workplace friendships is that relational partners are both friends and workmates. While friendships are voluntary and personalistic, workplace relationships are imposed by organizational requirements and formally defined (Morrison, 2004; Sias et al., 2012). Employees have little control over the selection of workers. Parties in workplace relationships interact in prescribed organizational roles with the primary goal to fulfill the role function (Morrison & Cooper-Thomas, 2013). Hence, being a friend and being a workmate denote distinct relational roles.

When two close friends are also work associates, they are involved in a blended relationship, such that their roles of being a friend and being a workmate exist simultaneously (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Morrison & Nolan, 2007). The expectations of the close friendship role may contradict with those of formalized organizational roles as workmates (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Zorn, 1995). The incompatible demands associated with the roles of "friend" and "workmate" can thus cause strain in both the friendship and work relationship (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Zorn, 1995). Being a workmate with one's friend can strain the friendship, as friendship emphasizes egalitarianism, autonomy, consensus, acceptance, and information disclosure, while work relationships stress inequality, diversity, and judgment (Bridge & Baxter, 1992). At the same time, friendship can harm a work relationship in terms of objectivity, inequality, and organizational information management (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Morrison & Wright, 2009).

More specifically, contradictions in the role demands of workplace friendship are manifested in five dialectical tensions: *equality-inequality, impartiality-favoritism, judgmentacceptance, autonomy-connection,* and *openness-closedness* (Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Morrison & Wright, 2009). The first three tensions are unique in workplace friendships. *Equalityinequality* tension refers to contradictions between the friendship norms of equality and workplace constraints and expectations that constitute inequality (e.g., hierarchy and rank). When the need to behave preferentially to one's friend violates the expectations of equal treatment in a work setting, relationship parties experience *impartiality-favoritism* tension. *Judgment-acceptance* pertains to the contradiction between the need for judgment or criticism inherent in work associations and the total acceptance norm in friendship. These dialectical tensions in workplace friendships have been evidenced in multiple empirical studies (e.g., Jameson, 2004; Sias, Heath, Perry, Silva, & Fix, 2004; Sias, 2009).

Tensions and Close Leader-Member Relationships

Research on workplace friendship undoubtedly offers insights on close leader-member relationships, as workplace friendships include friendships developed between leaders and members. Yet, leader-member relationships differ from workplace relationships between peer coworkers or employees and customers, in the sense that leaders and members are hierarchically different. Being in a supervision position, leaders have access to more and higher quality resources compared with subordinates (Anderson et al. 2012). They typically take charge of performance evaluation, rewards, and sanctions (Coyle-Shapiro, Kessler, & Purcell, 2004). Members rely on leaders for resources such as support, training and development opportunities, and information (Graen & Scandura, 1987; Wilson et al., 2010). The hierarchical difference between leaders and members may generate tensions specific to the leader-member relationship or make certain tensions more intensive compared with common workplace friendships. Hence, it is necessary to study the dialectical tensions in leader-member close relationships.

In his exploratory study on friendship between leaders and members, Zorn (1995) argued that simultaneously hierarchical and personal relationships are characterized by tensions created by two prominent role identities (i.e., friend and supervisor/subordinate), both of which may be salient in the same context, but which often suggest quite different role performances. By interviewing five people who claimed to be either currently or in the recent past in a relationship that was both personal and hierarchical by the time of the interview, he observed five types of relational tensions. *Connection-autonomy, openness-closedness*, and *novelty-predictability*, tensions inherent in all interpersonal relationship, manifested with little surprise. Two other tensions relevant to leader-member friendships surfaced: equality-superiority and privilege*uniformity*. Leaders are privy to information, paid more, accessible to more benefits, and enjoy more freedom in decision-making. Yet in personal relationships like friendships, people tend to downplay superiority and emphasize equality (Brown & Levinson, 1987; Mendelson & Kay, 2003). Such incompatibility leads to *equality-superiority* tension, similar to Bridge and Baxter's (1992) equality-inequality tension. Privilege-uniformity tension occurs when friends expect to be treated "favorably" because of their friendship, while supervisors are expected to treat all subordinates uniformly and fairly, echoing judgment-favoritism identified by Bridge and Baxter (1992). These tensions relate to strain experienced by hierarchical friendship partners (Morrsion & Nolan, 2007).

Although Zorn's (1995) study is insightful to understand relational tensions in leadermember close relationship, it is based on interview record from only five employees. The tensions identified in Zorn's (1995) did not differ much from tensions in workplace friendship (e.g., Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Morrison & Cooper-Thomas, 2013). *Equality-superiority and privilege-uniformity*, in addition, overlap with each other. More work is needed for a better understanding of the tensional side of close leader-member dyads. Yet, till today, very limited work has recognized, much less addressed, this topic.

So far, I have discussed basic dialectical tensions in general interpersonal relationships and those observed in workplace friendships and leader-member friendships. Table 1 summarizes these relational tensions including the definitions and examples. They lay the theoretical foundation for research on dialectical tensions in LMX.

Table 1: Summaries of dialectical relational tensions in general interpersonal relationships, workplace friendships, and leader member friendships

Relationships	Dialectical Tensions	Definitions	Examples from interpersonal relationships
General Interpersonal Relationships (e.g., Baxter & Erbert, 1999; Simon & Baxter, 1993)	Autonomy- Connection	Two parties need to forsake individual autonomy to form a relationship, yet too much connection would destroy the relationship because individual entity is lost	"We both wanted to see each other but we didn't want to hold each other back. It was both ways - I didn't want him to see other people and he didn't want me to see other people". "He basically didn't have a life - he sort of fed off my life. And I kind of felt smothered by that He wanted to live his whole life through me and that really bothered me" (Baxter & Erbert, 1999)
	Openness-Closedness	To maintain intimacy in interpersonal relationships, information disclosure is necessary. Meanwhile, information disclosure can be risky, necessitating information closedness	"She always pushed me to talk and I never wanted to talk. I wanted it to just go away on its own." (Pawlowski, 1995)
	Novelty- Predictability	Predictability increases as two become closer and mutual knowledge and understanding grow. However, excessive predictability produces emotional deadening and boredom in a relationship	"For the very few times I get thrown by her responses, if 15 percent of them were more predictable, then I'd be more comfortable, then I could live with the rest" (Cavanaugh, 1999)
Workplace	Autonomy-	Same as the definition in General	
Friendship	Connection	Interpersonal Relationships	"Familiarity breeds contempt." (Morrsion & Nolan, 2007)
(e.g., Bridge &			"My friend felt unable to be frank with me professionally
Baxter, 1992;		Same as the definition in General	for fear I might take any criticism personally and it may
Morrison &	Openness-Closedness	Interpersonal Relationships	affect our friendship" (Morrision & Nolan, 2007)

Nolan, 2007;			
Leader- Member Friendship (e.g., Zorn, 1995)	Equality-Inequality	Friendship norms of equality contradict with inequality generated by workplace constraints and expectations at work setting	"I don't know where to draw the line sometimes, especially when we are both of different ranks within the organization, e.g. taking humor a step too far" (Morrision & Nolan, 2007)
	Impartiality- Favoritism	Preferential treatment of one's friends contradict with expectations of equal treatment at work setting	"Harder to tell them that you cannot do a favor for them" (Morrision & Nolan, 2007)
	Judgment- Acceptance	The total acceptance norm in friendship contradicts with the need for judgment inherent in work associations	"It makes it hard to comment on someone's incompetence when everybody has a culture of being unconditionally nice" (Morrision & Nolan, 2007)
	Autonomy- Connection	Same as the definition in General Interpersonal Relationships	"You can't imagine how many times I get interruptedI wish they can understand the need for me to work individually with patient evaluations and quarterly reviews for nurses They are better off and you're better if you leave them alone." (Cavanaugh, 1999)
	Openness-Closedness	Same as the definition in General Interpersonal Relationships	"I am sure there were things that happened that she would like to have told me but didn't because of her role" (Zorn, 1995)
	Novelty- Predictability	Same as the definition in General Interpersonal Relationships	"One minute, she is your best friend. The next minute, you're nothing. She doesn't talk to you I mean, you've got to feel her out to find out what kind of mood she's inI try to be as nice as I can, because I don't know what kind of mood she's in" (Zorn, 1995)
	Equality-Superiority (same with equality- inequality)	Friendship norms of equality contradict with hierarchical differences between leaders and members	"Usually I have to ask her to do something usually it's coming from [my boss], that he wants me to tell them to do this or that. I really don't ever have the need to tell them to do something coming from me. It's just not myself". (Zorn, 1995)

Privilege-Uniformity	Due formation the state and to small faire d	"I think I was probably a little more lenient with her because
(same with	Preferential treatments to one's friend	of our friendship, you know, than I would have been had
Impartiality-	treatment of work setting	someone else had been doing some of the things that she
Favoritism)	treatment at work setting	was doing". (Zorn, 1995)

Tensions and High-Quality LMX

High-quality LMX is characterized by loyalty, affect, respect, mutual support, trust, shared interests, and reciprocal influence (Dansereau, et al., 1975; Dienesch & Liden, 1986; Dulebohn et al., 2012; Liden & Maslyn, 1998; Uhl-Bien & Maslyn, 2003). These characteristics resemble the characteristics of friendship (Berndt, 2002; Berman, West, & Richter, 2002; Bukowski, Hoza, & Boivin, 1994; Rose, 2002; Sias & Cahill, 1998). Sias (2009) contended that to some degree, high-quality LMX is characterized by friendship. Mentorship, a form of LMX when the leader acts as the mentor, show overlaps with friendships in terms of the psychological functions and reciprocity (Lunsford, 2013). Indeed, affect and liking is an indicator of high-quality LMX in LMX quality measurement (Greguras & Ford, 2006). Yet, when high-quality LMX partners are perceived as friends, high-quality LMX is faced with dialectical tensions caused by conflicts in role demands of being a friend and a workmate simultaneously.

Despite the similarities between high-quality LMX and friendship, some scholars claim that the development of high-quality LMX is based on the characteristics of the working relationship (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). The mutual trust, respect, and mutual obligation refer specifically to LMX partners' assessments of each other regarding their professional capabilities and behaviors, differing itself from the liking-based dimensions of interpersonal attraction and bonding suggested by personal relationships (Liden & Maslyn, 1994; Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). Indeed, there are situations when LMX partners perceive they are in high-quality LMX, yet they do not think of the LMX partners as their friends. In such cases, high-quality LMX should not be considered as a personal relationship, but a close work relationship. Consequently, relational tensions in high-quality LMX should differ from those manifested in leader-member friendship. Hence, high-quality LMX can involve friendship between the leader and the member, but it does not have to; it can remain a working relationship with greater closeness between LMX partners. This makes it necessary to investigate the particular details of high-quality LMX and relational tensions experienced by high-quality LMX partners, instead of directly applying the five relational tensions identified in leader-member friendship research (Bridge & Simon, 1992; Morrsion & Nolan, 2007). Henceforth, the dialectical tensions high-quality LMX partners experience are defined as *LMX tensions*.

OVERVIEW OF STUDIES

I chose a mixed method design to examine the above issues, as it is most appropriate to propose new constructs building on extant theory and investigate their impact on established constructs (Edmondson & McManus, 2007; Little, Major, Hinojosa, & Nelson, 2015). A pilot study and two primary studies were conducted. First, I employed a pilot study to explore the tensions leaders and members actually experience in high-quality LMX. An open-ended survey question was distributed and in-depth interviews were conducted to identify the tensions leaders and members experience when in a high-quality LMX relationship. Based on data from this pilot study as well as the theoretical foundation available in the close relationship literature, I constructed measures of LMX tensions leaders and members experience and validated them in Study 1 across five independent samples. In Study 2, I examined the consequences of these tensions on both leaders and members. Specifically, I proposed and tested path models relating LMX tensions to relational and behavioral outcomes for both members and leaders.

PILOT STUDY

As mentioned above, the mixed understanding of the similarities between high-quality LMX and friendship as well as the limited study of relational tensions in leader-member relationships warrant examining relational tensions encountered by high-quality LMX leaders and members. The current pilot study adopted a grounded theory approach to explore the relational tensions high-quality LMX partners' experience.

Pilot Study Method

Grounded Theory Approach

Grounded theory is a qualitative methodology designed to build theories emerging from field through collected data (Glaser & Strauss, 2017). Grounded theory is well suited for this study, because it excels at exploring phenomena that is less known (Murphy, Koltz, & Kreiner, 2017), like relational tensions experienced by high-quality LMX partners. Besides, scholars have used grounded theory to understand interaction dynamics in interpersonal relationships (e.g., Latta & Goodman, 2011; Merchant & Whiting, 2017; Young & Kleist, 2010).

Grounded theory can be broadly considered as a set of strategies through which theories are constructed by simultaneously collecting and analyzing data (Glaser & Strauss, 2017). There are four core principles that underlie grounded theory: emergence, constant comparison, theoretical sampling, and theoretical saturation (Charmaz, 2014; Murphy et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2015). *Emergence* denotes that scholars remain open to new data and findings during the course of data collection and analysis. This closely relates to *constant comparison*, the defining feature of the grounded theory. It means continually iterating between extant literature, extant data, and emerging data in order to construct a theory of social reality that is informed and supported by extant literature, past, and present data (Murphy et al., 2017; Strauss & Corbin, 1998). *Theoretical sampling* entails that the choice of data sources should be based on how useful they are in validating, correcting, or extending the emergent model. *Theoretical saturation* explains when researchers should stop data collection and analysis. When no further new dimensions or information can be added to the theoretical model, or the properties of the emerging theoretical categories are compressive in depth and scope, the theoretical model is "saturated," and there is no need to continue data collection and analysis.

Accordingly, the data collection and analysis in this study were closely interrelated. They influence each other considerably (Glaser & Strauss, 2017). For example, data analysis can change questions asked in later interviews and the choice of subsequent interviewees. Besides, I continued collecting and analyzing data until no new category or new data concerning a category was found, that is, when theoretical saturation was reached (Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

Samples

Grounded theory involves data collection using multiple techniques from multiple sources (Glaser & Strauss, 2017; Wilhelmy, Kleinmann, König, Melchers, & Truxillo, 2016). Following this, I collected data via an open-ended survey question and in-depth interviews.

To understand tensional experiences in high-quality LMX, I studied samples of populations who work as members and/or leaders in organizations and have formed a good relationship with at least one of their leaders or members. They have the firsthand experience
with constraining or tensional feelings in their interactions with high-quality LMX leaders or members if any.

To have some initial understanding of high-quality LMX partners' relational tensions, the open-ended survey question was electronically distributed to 97 weekend Master of Public Administration (MPA) students who enrolled in a leadership course in a large university in northern China. It was an appropriate sample for this study, because these MPA students worked as full-time employees during weekdays and had frequent interactions with either direct supervisors or subordinates at work. Forty-three weekend MPA students answered the question online and five of them held positions with managerial functions. The industry sectors they worked in were diverse (e.g., financial services, public services, and educational organizations).

For in-depth interviews, I began participant recruitment with different variables in mind that might influence relational experiences in LMX: gender, work tenure, and hierarchical level (Bauer & Green, 1996; Emerson, 1962; Epitropaki & Martin, 1999). Theoretical saturation was reached after analyzing 26 interviews. Among the 26 interviewees, 65% of them were male, and nine of them held managerial positions. The average age was 31.73 (SD = 6.93), and the average work tenure was 6.96 years (SD = 8.23). All participants were Asian. They worked in various industries including finance, hospitality, communication, and government and held various positions such as executive assistants, sectaries, investment managers, HR professionals, teachers, and lawyers.

I applied *theoretical sampling* approach (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007; Wilhelmy et al., 2016) and did not decide the kind of and the amount of data to collect before data collection was conducted. Rather, data gathered earlier guided the questions asked and people interviewed in later data collection. For example, in later interviewers, I purposefully approached participants

whose position naturally gave them more chances to form close relationships with their supervisors, such as sectaries, because such jobs were mentioned by participants in earlier interviews that they might complicate LMX relationship itself as well as the relational experiences of LMX partners. Sampling was done by me contacting my friends who have at least one-year work experience and through references from the participants.

Data Collection Procedures

As mentioned in prior section, two methods were applied for data collection: an openended survey question and semi-structured in-depth interviews.

The main purpose of the open-ended survey question was to gain some initial data on high-quality LMX partners' tensional or constraining experiences in the relationship. In the survey distributed to weekend MPA students, only one open-ended question was asked along with demographic questions on age, gender, industry, and their role in LMX (i.e., member or leader). The question was "Think about a supervisor/subordinate with whom you have (or have had) a good relationship currently (or in the recent past). Describe a situation or circumstance where you felt constraints, pressure, conflicted or that caused tensions with the relationship. Please describe what happened and explain why you felt that way".

I followed an *orienting theoretical perspective* (Locke, 2001) and conducted in-depth interviews with a semi-structured interview guide based on insights gained in reviewing extant literature on LMX and interpersonal relationship (e.g., Baxter & Simon, 1993; Morrison & Nolan, 2007) and open-ended survey question responses. The interview guide covered four themes: a) what are the situations in which you feel constrained and pressured by your good relationship with direct supervisors/subordinates; b) what are the reasons behind these pressured and constrained feelings; c) what have you done to address such feelings and situations; d) what do you think an ideal leader-member relationship should look like. The first theme is the most important one. Participants were asked to think about a supervisor or a subordinate that she or he once had or currently has a good relationship with, and then to describe (a) events or moments that make them feel relational pressure or experience tensions in the relationship; (b) events or moments that make them feel constrained by their good relationship with their supervisor/employee; 3) issues, challenges or difficulties, if any, that currently characterize their (or once) high-quality relationship.

The interview questions were continually adjusted in data collection process to reflect ideas gained in data collected already. Therefore, some questions asked in later interviews were different from earlier ones as a way to better understand the relational experiences and the context.

I conducted all interviews, four in person, and the others by phone. Before the interview, participants were given a brief introduction of the study and clearly notified their rights. The confidentiality of data and anonymity of later data processing were ensured. All interviews started with a brief description of themselves and their jobs to collect demographic information. A typical interview last about an hour and was recorded and later transcribed with the interviewee's permission. This results in 131 single-spaced pages.

Pilot Study Data Analysis

Data were analyzed in three steps. First, I coded data line-by-line using software Nvivo 12. Following Wilhelmy and her colleagues (2016), coding was based on "an evolving system of categories" (p. 318). The codebook or the coding dictionary were continuously modified based on iterative comparisons between previously coded and newly coded data. I repeatedly switched between previously and newly analyzed data and continually updated the coding dictionary. The final coding dictionary presents the concepts emerged from data. Second, the codes and concepts were carefully read and compared to identify abstract categories, so that data can be lifted to a conceptual level. I was very conscious in this process to keep my mind open, but also tried to be attentive to how these abstract categories related to extant literature (Locke, 2001; Wilhelmy et al., 2016). Third, the links between categories were examined. I paid special attention to whether and how categories can be grouped together to form a common theme. This coding process was conducted on all responses to the open-ended survey question and all interviews.

Pilot Study Results

The aim of this pilot study was to investigate what tensional and constraining experiences both leaders and members experience in high-quality LMX. Regarding leader tensional experiences, the data analysis yielded three categories: *indirectness-directness (DIR), favoritismimpartiality (FAV)*, and *dependence-autonomy (DEP)*. In terms of member tensional experiences, I found six different categories. *Workload fairness-unfairness (WLD), high-equal work quality expectation (WQE), work assignment riskiness-safety (WAR)* are task-related tensions. The other three are *control boundary clarity-blurriness (CBC), work-life boundary clarity- lack of clarity (WLB)*, and *openness-closedness (OC)*.

Leader Tensions

Participants mentioned several situations when they felt pressured by their good relationship with subordinates. One tension 33% leaders (3 out of 9 leaders) pointed out is

indirectness-directness, which indicated the differentiated communication strategies leaders applied when giving negative feedback or messages to high-quality and ordinary LMX members. It is leaders' job to monitor and evaluate members' performance and provide them with feedback (Yukl et al., 2002). Delivering negative feedback or messages to close members creates a more pressured situation for leaders, as close members are more likely to take such comments personally and inappropriate handling can destroy their relationship. One leader described how she tried to communicate with the close subordinate when she found that the subordinate got involved in a serious misconduct: "It will undoubtedly hurt her feelings if I directly say that I know you have taken the money you shouldn't have taken. I don't want to hurt her by straightforwardly saying that I suspect you are corrupted and I believe you are. I, of course, don't want to report her to inspection department nor make her face with all investigations. I want to do her good. So I said things very softly and indirectly and tried to let her know that I know, so that she can restrain and discipline herself. If she could read between the lines, she would know what I meant...If she were just an ordinary subordinate, I would simply confront with her and report her misconduct to my supervisor".

Another tension leaders (44%, 4 out of 9) mentioned was favorable treatment requests or expectations from subordinates. For example, one leader said: "Some directly asked me for such favorable treatments (e.g., higher scores in evaluation)". Also, one member said: "I am so close to her (her supervisor) and have done so much for her. Why couldn't she promote me instead of others? I am totally qualified". An interesting phenomenon manifested in data is that in general, members would not bluntly request favors from leaders. Instead, they would give hints to leaders showing that they have such a need or an expectation. As one leader mentioned: "He did not

directly tell me his requests, but somehow he behaved in a way that made me understand he had such expectations".

A third tension leaders (44%, 4 out of 9) experienced in their interactions with highquality LMX subordinates was members' over-dependence on them. As one important function of leadership, mentoring aims to develop members as independently capable employees to deal with work tasks (Yukl, Gordon, & Taber, 2002). However, leaders' guidance and help sometimes lead to members to rely on leaders too much to complete work on their own. For instance, one leader said:

"She was unable to communicate effectively with a colleague from another department, and had to come to me to handle it for her. Once or twice, I did it for her, but I began to realize it was a problem. The team was not performing at its most optimum and wasted time in going through me for problem solving. I told her that this method of communication was not effective and relied too much on me, and also asked for her to be more expressive and step up to take more initiative in deciding the course of action. We decided to let her try to communicate the necessary action to the other colleagues, but she could still check with me if she is unsure. I am also trying to let go so that she is more aware and active of the status and follow up items of the matter at hand."

According to interviewees, members' more than necessary checking with leaders not only burdened leaders, but also indirectly shifted work responsibility from the member to the leader. Despite the good relationship, leaders felt that these members lacked the courage to take up responsibilities, especially when leaders believed members were adequately capable to deal with the specific tasks.

29

Member Tensions

The relational tensions high-quality LMX members experienced were various. Three of the most frequently mentioned concerned work assignment. The first one was about workload. Member competence has shown to be one important factor that determines LMX quality (Dulebohn et al., 2012). And "it is quite common in the workplace that able men are always busy". About 60% of members interviewed mentioned that their high-quality LMX leaders continued giving them tasks even if there was plenty of work at hand. As one interviewee said: "When it comes to work assignment, he (the leader) considers who can complete the task successfully and quickly, and usually the task will be assigned to me. Yes, it shows that the leader trusts me and recognizes my competence. But sometimes I have too much work to do". Over workload, or the inequality in work assignment among group members, acts as a doubleedged sword for members. On one hand, it does cause pressure for high-quality members. For example, one member said: "She (the leader) treated me as a manager already and required me to deliver the same amount and quality of work a manager does. But I was not a manager yet, and my capabilities back then could not handle such work requirements... In the end, I found myself so pressured that I could not work with her anymore". On the other hand, members, to some degree, view higher workload as a positive signal, because not only does it reflect the leader's trust, but also it gives members opportunities to make themselves known in the organization in doing these tasks. One interviewee noted that "as a person who is in his/her early career stage, you don't want to be left out in work assignment, because it means that you are marginalized and your chances of getting promoted are slim".

The second work-related member tension was higher work quality expectation. This is relevant to the first tension, as it usually comes together with a higher workload. High-quality

LMX members felt that leaders have higher expectations for them to deliver high-quality work compared with other members. As one interviewee said: "For the same job, she only requires my coworkers to do an OK job. If I simply give her OK work, she will be very unhappy. She will for sure ask me what is wrong with me". Participants indicated that leaders' higher work quality expectation might come out of a good intention as it can help with members' career development. For example, one participant clearly stated that "the purpose is to develop myself as well as getting the work done successfully". Yet, they also mentioned that the increasingly growing expectations caused them pressure, especially when they found themselves having difficulty meeting them.

The third one was about the risks members might take in work reluctantly. Because highquality LMX members are trusted by and close to leaders, leaders at times get them involved in riskier tasks that leaders do not want other members to participate in or even to be aware of. As one participant said: "Sometimes the leader wants you to take risks for him or share his risks. Like some time ago, he wanted me to register a company under my name, but he would be the actual runner of it. I would take all legal responsibilities and risks if anything happens, but I cannot control either the business or the finance of the company. For me, I honestly do not want to take the responsibility if I cannot control the running of the company. But I could not persuade him and got a company registered in the end". The participants also pointed out it was hard for them to say "no" to leaders' requests like this, as it very possibly will damage their relationship.

The fourth member tension regarded the unclear authority boundaries between highquality LMX partners. High-quality LMX members are empowered with more autonomy in decision-making and work completion (Dulebohn et al., 2012). However, even if tasks were completed successfully, members reported that leaders at times were unhappy with the fact that the member did not ask his/her opinions in the process. One interviewee said: "It needs a clear boundary of authority and decision making, like these are the things I can decide, and these require his decision-making. He needs to make it crystal clear. A lot of times, I simply followed my feelings that I should make decisions on this and that, but he was not always happy with it and blamed me for not asking his opinions on occasions". Another interviewee even said: "Right now, if I am not sure whether I should get his thoughts or not, I will always ask his thoughts, even if he feels annoyed". This tension relates to leaders' tension about members' over dependence. One behavior that interpreted by leaders as members' over-dependence was members' frequent checking-ins. However, for members, they are necessary so that leaders will not pick on their doings afterward. It even acts as a strategy that members use to keep leaders posted on all the hard work they have done.

The fifth tension concerned the blurry boundary between work and life. The close relationship with leaders at work can potentially involve members in leaders' personal issues and lives or invite leaders to meddle with members' personal life. As one interviewee talked about her experience: "I also helped her with her family issues, like her father's trip to the US and her father's funeral. I even kept her accompany after her surgery in the hospital...I felt very exhausted about this. Honestly, it was a big pressure on me. There was a time that she asked me to share my university experience with her niece, because she felt that I could gain her face. This had nothing to do with my work or the company's business". Another interviewee also mentioned that she was unwillingly involved into the leader's conflicts with other employees and had to act as the coordinator and "translator" between the two parties, which was irrelevant to her own work and cost her a good amount of time.

The sixth tension that members experience was about information disclosure between leaders and members. Being closer to leaders, high-quality LMX members become more open to leaders and share their honest thoughts, opinions, and comments, which might not be professional in the workplace. Besides, it may cause potential threats to members if the LMX declines someday. One member shared her experience in the interview: "I am a very careful person. I keep my mouth shut when it comes to office politics and gossip about other department or other workers. At least in the beginning, I was like this. But as we got closer, we trusted each other more. She told me more things. And I became more open as well. I did not know whether I should say something or not, or comment on something or not. Sometimes I feel I should not have commented on things".

Pilot Study Discussion

It is obvious in the results that leaders' tensional experiences in high-quality LMX were different from members'. First, the specific tensions experienced by leaders and members were not the same. Second, members reported more types of tensions and they showed more pressure in maintaining and managing their relationships with leaders. This can be explained by resource dependence theory (Cook & Emerson 1978; Emerson, 1962; Felmlee, 1994; Simpson, Farrell, Oriña, & Rothman, 2015). According to resource dependence theory, power is a property of the social relation, residing in the other's dependence (Cook & Emerson, 1978; Emerson, 1978; Emerson, 1978; Emerson, 1962). Thus, a person's power in a relationship is a function of the number of resources he or she possesses (Blau, 1964; Felmlee, 1994). A partner is more powerful when he or she has relatively more valued resources, or things available to meet the other's needs. Because leaders are in charge of sanctions and resources desirable to members, such as challenging tasks, training

opportunities, and information, they generally hold a more powerful position in the relationship (Coyle-Shapiro et al., 2004). They have more autonomy and control over what they want to do and when to do it (Anderson et al., 2012; Berger, Rosenholtz, & Zelditch, 1980). Members, by contrast, have less access to scare resources and are more dependent in the relationship.

The imbalanced power and resources in leader-member dyads behaviorally constrain members when dealing with requests from leaders, especially for those in high-quality LMX (Richardson & Taylor, 2012; Tiedens & Fragale, 2003; Rios et al., 2015). When LMX is of low quality and exchange between leaders and members is based on economic contracts, the leader and the member accepts the power and position difference, for this is expected according to the contract. However, high-quality LMX requires a high level of equity to maintain relationship quality (Molm, Quist, & Wiseley, 1994; Oyamot, Fuglestad & Snyder, 2010), which asks for high levels of mutuality and reciprocity (Dabos & Rousseau, 2004; Ferris et al., 2009; Zhang & Epley, 2009). Yet differences in accessible resources for leaders and members lead to differences in equity maintenance efforts: it is generally harder for members to offer the same or equally valued favors to leaders. Consequently, they tend to be more attentive to leaders' needs (Lee & Tiedens, 2001; Rios et al. 2015), and more engaged in relationship maintenance activities (Gordon & Chen, 2013), and more submissive to leaders' requests even if they generally do not enjoy it (Richardson & Taylor, 2012; Tiedens & Fragale, 2003).

Another interesting finding was that even though members felt some types of tensions were stressful, like workload assignment and work quality, they also mentioned that these greater demands from leaders drove them to work harder and grew faster. This echoes previous findings that members in high-quality LMX generally have high growth-need (Graen, Scandura, & Graen, 1986; Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995; Scandura & Graen, 1984). These tensions are potentially caused by their stably displayed satisfactory work performance (Nahrgang et al., 2009), which make leaders believe that they are capable of addressing challenging situations and tasks. Besides, because high-quality LMX members gain privileges and more resources from leaders compared with other members, leaders assume reciprocation from members (Liden & Graen, 1980; Harris & Kacmar, 2006). Hence, they have growing expectations that members go "above and beyond" at work. Additionally, close relationship partners often hold the expectation that the partner will understand them better (Davis & Todd, 1985; Vorauer & Sucharyna, 2013). Leaders believe that high-quality LMX members not only have the capability to address challenging work tasks well, but also can put themselves in leaders' shoes and understand the situations leaders face. This is probably the reason why leaders expect high-quality members to share some of the risks they bear at work and assign members riskier tasks.

Although leaders, in general, are more powerful in leader-member relationships and thus have fewer tensions in high-quality LMX, they still experience tensions as they want to maintain the relationship. Development of high-quality LMX is costly in terms of time and effort (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). It is nevertheless wise to arbitrarily end one high-quality LMX and start developing another one. Leaders' desire to keep LMX quality will be high when the subordinate is a top performer. High-quality LMX can enhance the subordinate's affective commitment, and he/she will be less likely to turn over voluntarily (Eisenberger, Karagonlar et al., 2010). It also helps leaders keep proximity to the top performer, who can be their in-group competitors, so that the leaders can monitor and downregulate the threat posed by the subordinate (Mead & Maner, 2012).

STUDY 1: LMX TENSIONS SCALE DEVELOPMENT

The purpose of Study 1 was to develop and validate scales for relational tensions experienced by high-quality LMX partners.

Item Generation

Items for LMX tensions were developed deductively from theories concerning relational tensions (e.g., Bridge & Baxter, 1992; Baxter & Simon, 1993; Zorn, 1995; Morrison & Nolan, 2007), and inductively from qualitative data collected in the pilot study. Items reflected several types of tensions in high-quality LMX (see Table 2 and 3 for items). For leaders, high-quality LMX tensions include *indirectness-indirectness (DIR), favoritism-impartiality (FAV), and dependence-autonomy (DEP)*. For members, there were six types of tensions: *control boundary clarity-blurriness (CBC), workload fairness-unfairness (WLD), high-equal work quality expectation (WQE), work assignment riskiness-safety (WAR), work-life boundary clarity-lack of clarity (WLB), and openness-closedness (OC).*

Item Reduction

I conducted a content validity assessment to remove items that were conceptually inconsistent with their respective construct definition (Hinkin, 1998). Following the procedure suggested by Hinkin (1998), construct definitions of the types of LMX tensions were provided to naïve respondents who are not familiar with these constructs. Naïve respondents were then asked

to select the type of LMX tension that best describes each item. If they thought the item was not a fit to any of the LMX tensions, they could select "not applicable".

Participants and Procedure

Construct definitions and items were translated into Chinese using translation-backtranslation method (Brislin, 1986). I first translated the survey from English to Chinese. A bilingual OBHR scholar who was blind to the nature of the study then translated the Chinese survey back to English. Disagreements were resolved by our discussions. A survey invitation was sent to an online group of Human Resource Management master graduates from a northern Chinese University. Twenty-four out of 47 group members completed the survey. Although this is a small sample size, it is appropriate for this stage of scale development (Hinkin, 1998). Twenty-nine percent of the participants were male (4% was unspecified), and the average age was 29.17 (SD = 3.69). The mean work tenure was 3.84 years (SD = 3.38). All participants were either HR staff in companies or current graduate students in HR.

Results

An item was retained if 75% of respondents correctly matched the item to its corresponding construct definition (Hinkin, 1998). As a result, 3 items (9%) of leader LMX tensions were eliminated: 2 items from DIR, and 1 item from FAV. Nine items of member LMX tensions were eliminated: 2 items from CBC, 3 items from WLB, and 4 items from WLD.

Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)

To reduce initial item pool to a parsimonious set of items, EFA were conducted for both leader and member LMX tension items.

Leader LMX Tension

Participants and Procedure

Participants were weekend MBA students enrolled in a large southwestern university in China. With the agreement of class professors, the data collection coordinator entered the classrooms during a class break and distributed paper surveys to MBA students after a brief introduction of the study. Participants used 10-minute class time to finish the surveys, and then the coordinator collected the finished surveys back. Every participant received a gift worth of RMB 10 (about \$1.50) for the participation.

Participants were asked to think of the direct subordinates they supervised currently and considered the one with whom they had the best relationship with. They were required to spend one minute to think about this subordinate's name, visualize him/her, and think about their interactions. After that, they started to answer survey questions.

Surveys were distributed among 296 weekend MPA students and 251 were returned (response rate = 84.8%). A team of undergraduate students who majored in business administration and were experienced in data administration completed all data entry. To make sure data were accurately entered, one student entered data with another student sitting aside and monitoring if the data typed was exactly the same as what was on the paper survey. With surveys with same answers across items or too much missing data removed (over 80% items

were not answered), 248 observations were included in the final analysis. The participants in the final sample worked in multiple industries (e.g., government, finance, healthcare, education, IT) and in various departments (e.g., R&D, HR, sales, finance). Among them, 49% were male, and 98% have at least a bachelor's degree. They were, on average, 31.23 years old (SD = 4.53) and had 5.73 direct subordinates (SD = 6.09). The mean organizational and departmental tenures were 5.55 years (SD = 3.41) and 3.59 years (SD = 2.39) respectively. On average, they have worked with the subordinate they thought of in survey completion for 2.63 years (SD = 1.97). Forty-four percent of the subordinates they considered during survey completion were female. All participants held managerial or supervisory positions.

Results

As a manipulation check, I measured participants' LMX with the subordinates they thought about during survey completion. LMX was assessed using Graen and Uhl-Bien's (1995) 7-item scale ($1 = strongly \ disagree, 6 = strongly \ agree, \alpha = .75$). The average LMX was 4.13 (SD = .72).

An EFA with maximum likelihood with oblimin rotation was performed on items. Three factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0 were identified (minimum eigenvalue = 2.87; total variance explained 42.43%). All items loaded onto the intended factor. However, I removed 6 items due to low factor loadings (factor loading < .40). Nine other items were also eliminated, as they were repetitive to other items, resulting in 16 retained items (see Table 2). A subsequent analysis on the remaining items produced a three-factor solution explained 59.46% of variance (minimum eigenvalue = 2.14). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of the sampling adequacy was .81, showing the sample was adequate for factor analysis.

Member LMX Tension

Participants and Procedure

Participants were weekend MBA students in a large southwestern university in China. The same data collection procedures were conducted. Participants were asked to think of their current supervisors (or supervisors in the recent past) with whom they have a good relationship with. They were instructed to spend one minute to think about this supervisor's name, visualize him/her, and think about their interactions before they begin to answer survey questions.

Surveys were distributed among 270 MBA students and 246 were returned (response rate = 91.1%). The same data entry procedure as in the leader data collection was conducted by the same team in different weekend MBA classes from the leader data collection. After removing surveys with the same answers across all items or too much missing data (over 80% items unanswered), I kept 241 observations in the final analysis. The participants in the final sample were 31.15 years old on average (SD = 4.53). Their mean organizational tenure was 5.54 years (SD = 3.42) and their mean departmental tenure was 3.61 years (SD = 2.44). Forty-nine percent of them were male. Ninety-nine percent of them have at least a bachelor's degree. On average, they have 1.8 direct supervisors (SD = 1.64) and have work with the supervisor they considered during survey completion for 3.44 years (SD = 2.44). Sixty-three percent of the supervisors they thought of were female. They worked in multiple industries (e.g., government, finance, healthcare, education, IT) and were from various departments (e.g., R&D, HR, sales, marketing, finance, clerical).

Results

An EFA with maximum likelihood with oblimin rotation was performed on items. Six factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0 were identified (minimum eigenvalue = 1.72; total variance explained 63.13%). All items loaded onto the intended factor. However, I removed 9 items due to low factor loadings (factor loading < .40). Three other items were also eliminated as they were repetitive to other items, resulting in 28 retained items (see Table 3). A subsequent analysis on the remaining items produced a six-factor solution explained 71.94% of variance (minimum eigenvalue = 1.40). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of the sampling adequacy was .85, showing the sample was adequate for factor analysis.

Table 2: Items of Leader LMX Tensions

Leader tensions	Factor loading
Indirectness-Directness: How direct the supervisor is toward the subordinate in responding negatively or expressing negative feedback.	
Compared with all the mediocre relationships with my direct subordinates:	
It is harder for me to explicitly tell this subordinate about behaviors that irritate me.	.54 (3.36, 1.50)
It is more difficult to have a direct conversation with this subordinate about my dissatisfactions with his/her performance.	.64 (3.01, 1.36)
I could be more direct toward this subordinate regarding negative feedback if we were not this close.	.79 (3.23, 1.40)
Discussions about this subordinate's unsatisfactory work behaviors could be more straightforward if we were not this close.	.83 (3.20, 1.45)
I use a subtler way to comment on this subordinate's subpar performance.	с
I am very mindful about how direct I should be when I need to say something that might upset this subordinate.	c
If I need to say no to this subordinate's requests, I feel the need to spend more time thinking about how to do it so that it will be not too direct and hurt his/her feelings.	b
When I have negative feedback for this subordinate, I try to find an indirect way to avoid hurting this subordinate's feelings.	b
If I need to share my dissatisfaction with this subordinate's performance, I try to be less straightforward to "soften the blow".	b
I could express negative feedback for this subordinate more openly if we were not this close.	с

I use a softer way to comment on this subordinate's incompetence.	с
Being frank with this subordinate professionally is a harder task relative to other subordinates.	а
I could more directly talk to this subordinate about his/her inappropriate work behaviors if we were not this close	с
It is more difficult to confront this subordinate directly about his/her unsatisfactory work performance, relative to ordinary subordinates	a
2.Favoritism-Impartiality : The subordinate expects favorable treatment from the supervisor.	
Compared with all the mediocre relationships with my direct subordinates:	
This subordinate has directly asked me for favorable treatment.	.59 (2.87, 1.49)
This subordinate has indirectly requested favorable treatment from me.	.61 (3.03, 1.46)
I have dealt with this subordinate's expectation for favorable treatment in resource allocation.	.66 (3.47, 1.45)
This subordinate expects me to score him/her more highly in performance evaluations.	.77 (4.19, 1.27)
This subordinate expects me to show preference for him/her in rewards.	.80 (4.04, 1.30)
This subordinate expects me to show favoritism to him/her	.74 (3.52, 1.47)
This subordinate has inexplicitly asked me to allocate resources to serve his/her purposes better.	c
I feel this subordinate expects me to treat him/her more favorably.	С
I feel the tension between satisfying this subordinate's expectation for favorable treatment and maintaining fairness in the work group.	a
I think some of the favor requests made by this subordinate would not occur, if we were not this close.	b

3. Dependence-Autonomy:

The follower shows high dependence on the leader in decision-making and task completion.	
Compared with all the mediocre relationships with my direct subordinates:	
This subordinate seeks my opinion at every step when doing his/her work even though I clearly put him/her in charge.	.51 (3.52, 1.40)
This subordinate relies on me too much to get her/his job done.	.72 (3.29, 1.30)
I feel if I did not make decisions for this subordinate, he/she would hardly get his/her work done	.68 (2.94, 1.40)
This subordinate will consult me even for things about which I am sure he/she can make a good decision.	.70 (3.68, 1.33)
This subordinate relies on me to acquire work resources even if she/he can easily acquire them in other ways.	.71 (3.31, 1.42)
This subordinate consults me at every step in finishing a work task, even if I think she/he should have learnt the skills doing similar tasks in the past.	.79 (3.24, 1.48)
Most of the time when there is a problem, this subordinate comes to me to handle it for her/him.	b
This subordinate should take on more responsibility in doing her/his job rather than frequently asking my opinions.	b
This subordinate is quite dependent on me to finish their jobs	с
Whenever this subordinate has a decision to make, he/she looks for my opinions.	с

Note. Final scale items shown in bold. Means and SDs of items were in parenthesis. Reasons for an item's removal: a = below 75% agreement on content validity; b = below .40 factor loading; c = repetitive.

Table 3: Items of Member I	LMX Tensions
----------------------------	--------------

Member tensions		Factor loading	
1. Openness-Closedness:			
The subordinate is overly communicative and expressive of			
their opinions around this supervisor.			
Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocr	e relationships:		
I have commented on things to this supervisor about which	.70		
I should have kept quiet.	(3.43, 1.37)		
There are ideas that I should have withheld from this	.65		
supervisor.	(3.22, 1.51)		
There are statements about my feelings regarding an event	.83		
that I wish I had not told this supervisor.	(2.99, 1.44)		
I have revealed my feelings about an event to this	02		
supervisor because of our relationship, when it would have	.92		
been better not to.	(5.22, 1.40)		
I have talked about things with this supervisor that I later	.85		
regretted.	(3.08, 1.49)		
I find myself commenting on things to my supervisor about			
which I should keep my mouth shut.	С		
I have told this supervisor things that I wish I had not told			
him/her.	с		
I have released information to this supervisor that I wish I had			
kept to myself.	с		
2 Control Boundary Clarity-Blurriness:			

2. Control Boundary Clarity-Blurriness: The good relationship with the supervisor makes the boundary between control and autonomy blurry that the member is not sure when or what should be updated to the supervisor because on one hand, the supervisor trusts the member in decision-making, and on the other hand, the supervisor wants to keep track of the work progress.

Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocre relationships:

I have felt confused about when I should and should not	.58	
update this supervisor.	(2.35, 1.39)	
There have been times that this supervisor has felt annoyed	.64	
by my continual update on work details.	(2.44, 1.44)	
It is unclear when I need to update this supervisor in terms	.90	
of work progress.	(2.48, 1.39)	
It is unclear what I need to update this supervisor in terms	.89	
of work progress.	(2.43, 1.33)	
I have felt confused about when I should seek this	.79	
supervisor's opinions.	(2.50, 1.35)	
There have been times that I have felt it was OK to not report	h	
to this supervisor, but later found that I should have.	b	
There have been times that I have reported to this supervisor,		
but discovered the supervisor felt it was unnecessary.	a	
There have been times when this supervisor is unhappy that I		
do not keep him/her updated on work details.	a	
3. Work-Life Boundary Clarity- Lack of Clarity:		
The good relationship with the supervisor can impinge on		
the member's personal time, as the member becomes		
involved in the supervisor's personal matters.		
Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocre read	lationships:	
I feel like this supervisor mingles my professional life with	.76	
his/her personal life too much.	(2.45, 1.46)	

I feel like I need to spend additional time addressing this	.84	
supervisor's personal problems even if I am not interested.	(2.23, 1.42)	
I get involved in some of this supervisor's personal issues	.80	
even though I do not want to.	(2.33, 1.44)	
I find myself spending quite some time addressing this	.73	
supervisor's personal issues.	(1.98, 1.28)	
I need to deal with personal demands from this supervisor	.78	
because of our close relationship.	(2.42, 1.51)	
I feel like this supervisor involves me too much in his/her	2	
personal issues that are irrelevant to my work.	a	
I feel compelled to join after-work activities to which this	2	
supervisor invites me.	a	
I feel like I need to be responsive to this supervisor's personal	2	
requests even though I am reluctant to do so.	a	
4. Workload Fairness-Unfairness:		
The good relationship with the supervisor yields a greater		
workload for the member relative to other workers.		
Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocre relationship	ps:	
T /0 1 T · · · · · ·		
I find I am assigned more tasks by this supervisor	.95	
compared with my coworkers in the same group.	(4.03, 1.38)	
I his supervisor continues to give me work even if I already	.78	
have enough on my plate.	(3.85, 1.57)	
I feel that the workload I deal with is more than what is	.65	
required of my peers.	(3.99, 1.47)	
This supervisor likes to assign tasks to me rather than to other	b	
subordinates.		

I feel like whenever there is a new task, this supervisor thinks	
of giving it to me first, even if he/she has already assigned me	a
enough work.	
I feel I am the person to whom this supervisor gives unpopular	
jobs because she/he believes I can complete them.	a
I would have less workload if I were not this close to this	h
supervisor.	0
I would have fewer tasks assigned to me if I were not this	h
close to this supervisor.	U
I have the feeling that this supervisor loves to give work to me	
compared with other employees.	a
The work this supervisor assigns to me piles up faster relative	a
to my peer workers.	u
5. High Work Quality Expectation – Equal Work Quality	
Expectation:	
The good relationship with the supervisor yields a higher	
work quality expectation for the subordinate.	
Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocre relationships:	
This supervisor has a higher har for most work relative to	((
my poors	.00
This supervisor has a higher expectation for my job	(1.20, 1.00)
nerformance	
This supervisor expects me to complete my work tasks as	80
nerfectly as nossible.	(4.73, 1.11)
I feel like I have to push myself to reach the higher	.56
standards that this supervisor sets for me.	(4.44, 1.22)
I find myself constantly trying to meet this supervisor's	.56
ever-rising expectations.	(4.43, 1.20)

I think this supervisor expects more from me at work relative	0
to my coworkers.	C
The same job that is OK when completed by my coworkers is	b
not good enough if completed by me.	0
I feel what means "extra miles" for my coworkers is	C
considered "standard" for me by this supervisor.	e
6. Work Assignment Riskiness-Safety:	
The good relationship with the supervisor raises the	
possibility of a risky work assignment. Here, a risky work	
assignment is an assignment a subordinate would not	
normally take on but can be a career risk.	
Compared to other supervisors with whom I have had mediocre relationships:	
This supervisor makes me take on more risk in my job.	.69 (3.62, 1.41)
Even though I do not want to do them, this supervisor asks	.74
me to take on potentially risky work tasks.	(3.60, 1.38)
The work I do for this supervisor is more risky relative to	.74
my coworkers.	(3.61, 1.47)
This supervisor involves me in work tasks that can be risky	.78
to my career.	(3.24, 1.45)
The work this supervisor assigns to me has a greater	.86
amount of risk compared with that of my coworkers.	(3.31, 1.43)
This supervisor involves me in riskier work tasks that I would	1.
rather avoid.	D
This supervisor involves me in riskier work situations that I	h
would rather avoid.	D
When it comes to risky tasks or projects, I am the first person	2
to whom this supervisor thinks about assigning them.	С

Note. Final scale items shown in bold. Mean and SD of the item were shown in parenthesis. Reasons for an item's removal: a = below 75% agreement on content validity; b = below .40 factor loading; c = repetitive.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)

CFAs were conducted to assess the psychometric properties of the leader and member scales using independent samples for each.

Leader Tensions

Participants and Procedure

A survey link was sent to current weekend MBA students and MBA alumni of a southwestern university in China. At the beginning of the survey, participants indicated whether they held a supervision role currently. If yes, they were directed to finish the leader survey; if not, they were directed to the member survey.

One hundred and seventy-one MBA alumni or students participated in the study. With the removal of four unusable responses because of too much missing data or the same choice across all items, the final sample included 167 leaders. About half of them were female (52.7%). All had at least bachelor's degree. The mean age was 33.57 years old (SD = 6.06) and their mean organizational tenure was 7.28 years (SD = 6.34). They worked in various departments, including human resource management, operation, marketing, finance, and sales. The average number of subordinates they had was 7.70 (SD = .14.27). To answer leader-member relationship related questions in the survey, participants were asked to think of a subordinate with whom they have (or have had in the recent future). On average, they have worked with the subordinate they referred to in survey completion for 2.85 years (SD = 2.20). About half of the referred subordinates were female (56.9%).

Measures

The items that were retained for each construct in EFA were used to measure leader tensions.

Analysis and Results

As a manipulation check, I measured participants' LMX with the subordinates they thought about during survey completion. LMX was assessed using Graen and Uhl-Bien's (1995) 7-item scale ($1 = strongly \ disagree, \ 6 = strongly \ agree, \ \alpha = .77$). The average LMX was 4.09 (SD = .74).

CFA was conducted using Mplus 7.2 (Muthén & Muthén, 2012). Fit statistics were examined to test whether the proposed three-factor structure fit the data. The structure showed good fit with the data: $\chi^2 = 121.38$ (p = .047), df = 97, CFI = .98, RMSEA = .04, SRMR = .05. The second-order structure in which the three factors were lower-order dimensions of a leader tension variable did not show improvement in model fit: $\chi^2 = 121.38$ (p = .047), df = 97, CFI= .98, RMSEA = .04, SRMR = .05. I also test the model fit of the one factor structure that all items loaded directly on the latent variable leader tension. The model fit was not acceptable: $\chi^2 =$ 374.14 (p < .001), df = 97, CFI = .74, RMSEA = .13, SRMR = .11.

Member Tensions

Participants and Procedure

A survey link was sent to current weekend MBA students and MBA alumni of a Southwestern university in China. At the beginning of the survey, participants indicated whether they held a supervision role currently. If yes, they were directed to finish the leader survey; if not, they were directed to the member survey.

One hundred and sixty-six MBA alumni participated in the study. With the removal of seven unusable responses because of too much missing data or the same choice across all items, the final sample included 159 members. Less than half of them were female (39.0%). Almost all had at least bachelor's degree (99.4%). The mean age was 29.13 years old (SD = 4.28) and their mean organizational tenure was 3.60 years (SD = 2.76). They worked in various departments, including sales, marketing, human resource management, customer service, finance, and project management. The average number of direct supervisors they had was 1.79 (SD = 1.07). On average, they have worked with the direct supervisor they referred to in survey completion for 2.54 years (SD = 1.80). The majority of the referred supervisors were male (71.1%).

Measures

The items that were retained for each construct in EFA were used to measure member tensions.

Analysis and Results

As a manipulation check, I measured participants' LMX with the supervisors they thought about during survey completion. LMX was assessed using Graen and Uhl-Bien's (1995) 7-item scale ($1 = strongly \ disagree, \ 6 = strongly \ agree, \ \alpha = .80$). The average LMX was 3.97 (SD = .90).

CFA was conducted using Mplus 7.2. Fit statistics were examined to test whether the proposed six-factor structure fit the data better than the alternative four-factor structure when the

three tensions relevant to work assignment composed a higher-order factor. The six-factor structure showed good fit with the data: $\chi^2 = 578.12 \ (p < .001), df = 328, CFI = .91, RMSEA$ = .069, SRMR = .07. The four-factor structure did not yield a better fit: $\chi^2 = 620.75 \ (p < .001), df$ = 334, $CFI = .90, RMSEA = .074, SRMR = .09 \ (\Delta \chi^2 = 42.63, \Delta df = 6, p < .001)$. Thus, the sixfactor structure was retained as the best fitting model. I also tested the model fit of a secondorder factor structure in which the six factors were lower-order dimensions of a higher-order construct member tension. The results were $\chi^2 = 635.48 \ (p < .001), df = 337, CFI = .90, RMSEA$ = .075, SRMR = .10, which was worse fit compared with the six-factor model ($\Delta \chi^2 = 57.36, \Delta df$ = 9, p < .001). The one-factor model structure in which all items loaded directly on one latent variable did not yield a good model fit: $\chi^2 = 1714.00 \ (p < .001), df = 343, CFI = .52, RMSEA$ = .159, SRMR = .14.

Convergent Validity and Discriminant Validity

Convergent Validity

Once high-quality LMX partners experience relational tensions, they not only feel anxiety and stress, but also have the need to address these tensions in order to maintain the relationship. As a result, LMX tensions exert extra demands on LMX partners to regulate oneself to concentrate on work duties instead of relational tensions (Bernerth, Walker, & Harris, 2016). Besides, managing leader-member relationship under such condition requires time, energy, and efforts (Sias, 2009; Sias et al., 2004), which can exhaust individuals. Therefore, LMX tensions are expected to be positively related to burnout.

Discriminant Validity

Different types of stressors at work should be differentiable constructs. Originated in leader-member relationships, LMX tensions should differ from other work stressors rooted in poor job descriptions. Thus, I expect LMX tensions will be distinct from role conflict and task conflict, two common stressors at work (Jehn & Mannix, 1997; Rizzo, House, & Lirtzman, 1970).

Sample and Measures

Burnout, role conflict, and task conflict were included in the same surveys for CFA data. Participants thus were the same in CFA analysis.

Burnout was measured with Maslach, Jackson, and Leiter (1996) burnout scale on a 6point scale ranging from $l = strongly \, disagree$ to $6 = strongly \, agree$. One sample item was "I feel burned out from my work". The Cronbach's alpha was .92 for leader sample and it was .85 for member sample.

Role conflict was assessed using the 8-item scale developed by Rizzo and his colleagues (1970) on a 6-point scale ranging from $1 = strongly \, disagree$ to $6 = strongly \, agree$. One sample item was "I work under incompatible policies and guidelines". The Cronbach's alpha for leader sample was .84 and it was .88 for member sample.

Task conflict was measured using the 4-item scale from Pelled, Eisenhardt, and Xin (1999) on a 6-point scale ranging from 1 = not at all to 6 = always. One sample item was "How often do the members of your team disagree about how things should be done". The Cronbach's alpha for leader sample was .83 and it was .88 for member sample.

The following section presents the results.

Results

Table 4 and Table 5 present means, standard deviations, and bivariate correlations between variables. As shown in Table 4, the three leader tensions, indirectness-indirectness (DIR), favoritism-impartiality (FAV), and dependence-autonomy (DEP) and burnout were positively related (r = .26, .33, .33 respectively, p < .01). Table 5 shows that the member tensions were also positively related to burnout except expectation. The correlation coefficients (r) between control boundary clarity-blurriness (CBC), workload fairness-unfairness (WLD), highequal work quality expectation (WQE), work assignment riskiness-safety (WAR), work-life boundary clarity- lack of clarity (WLB), openness-closedness (OC) were .29 (p < .01), .47(p< .01), .07 (p > .05), .40 (p < .01), .18 (p < .05), .35 (p < .01) respectively.

Support for distinctiveness between LMX tensions, role conflict, and task conflict was provided by the results of a five-factor CFA model that fit the leader data well ($\chi^2 = 514.37$ (p < .001), df = 332, CFI = .91, RMSEA = .057, SRMR = .06). I also compared the five-factor model with a four-factor model by combining role conflict and favoritism, and a three-factor model with dependence and task conflict combined. Both the four-factor model ($\chi^2 = 768.96$ (p < .001), df = 336, CFI = .78, RMSEA = .088, SRMR = .09) and the three-factor model failed to yield adequate fit with the data ($\chi^2 = 1008.332$ (p < .001), df = 339, CFI = .67, RMSEA = .109, SRMR = .11). The five-factor model presented significantly better fit with the data relative to the four-factor model ($\Delta \chi^2 = 254.59$, $\Delta df = 4$, p < .001) and the three-factor model ($\Delta \chi^2 = 493.96$, $\Delta df = 7$, p < .001).

For member tensions, the results of an eight-factor model showed acceptable fit with the member data ($\chi^2 = 1256.01$ (p < .001), df = 701, CFI = .87, RMSEA = .071, SRMR = .07). Comparing it with a seven-factor model with boundary and role conflict combined ($\chi^2 = 1558.51$ (p < .001), df = 708, CFI = .80, RMSEA = .087, SRMR = .08), the eight-factor model showed significantly better fit ($\Delta \chi^2 = 302.50$, $\Delta df = 7$, p < .001).

In sum, the results suggested that LMX tensions were related to but distinct from similar constructs.

Table 4: Descriptive Statistics, Reliabilities, and Correlations from Leader Validity Data

Variables	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	
1. Directness-Indirectness	3.4	1.04	.73					
2. Favoritism-Impartiality	3.31	1.08	.19*	.87				
3. Dependence-Autonomy	3.06	0.99	.22**	.38**	.85			
4. Burnout	3.1	1.38	.26**	.33**	.33**	.92		
5. Role conflict	3.66	0.96	.16*	.38**	.34**	.49**	.84	
6. Task conflict	3.13	0.98	.28**	.37**	.27**	.46**	.55**	.83
<i>Note</i> . $N = 167$.								
p < .05; p < .01.								

Table 5: Descriptive Statistics, Reliabilities, and Correlations from Member Validity Data

	Mean	S.D	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. BCB	2.29	1.07	.87								
2. WLD	2.87	1.37	.31**	.89							
3. WQE	4.36	.98	01	.33**	.85						
4. WAR	2.72	1.21	.32**	.56**	$.17^{*}$.89					
5. WLB	1.83	1.15	.44**	$.17^{*}$.03	.50**	.94				
6. OC	2.93	1.18	.28**	.41**	.34**	.53**	.44**	.89			
7. Burnout	2.86	1.12	.29**	.47**	.07	.40**	.18*	.35**	.85		
8. Role conflict	3.05	1.02	.36**	.47**	$.17^{*}$.51**	.29**	.53**	.58**	.88	
9. Task conflict	2.76	1.04	.42**	.42**	.03	.44**	.34**	.49**	.41**	.64**	.88
Note. $N = 1$	159.										

p < .05; p < .01.

STUDY 2: EXPERIENCE OF LMX TENSIONS AND CONSEQUENCES

Having developed and validated LMX tension measures, I aim to investigate their effects on leaders and members in Study 2. Specifically, I seek to expand our understanding of LMX tensions by examining the impact of LMX tensions on both relational and work behavioral outcomes.

Figure 1 illustrates the proposed model on consequences of LMX tensions. For both leaders and members, I propose that both leader and member experienced LMX tensions will result in same outcomes for leaders and members. Conservation of Resources Theory (COR, Hobfoll, 2001, 1989) holds that individuals strive to obtain, retain, protect, and foster resources. Resources are things people value and "may be delineated into object, condition, personal characteristics, and energy" (Hobfoll, 2001, p. 341). When individuals face resources loss threats, or actually lose resources, or have insufficient resources gains following significant resource investments, stress will occur.



Figure 1: Hypothesized Model on the Outcomes of LMX Tensions

LMX tensions exert extra demands for resources to regulate oneself to concentrate on work duties instead of relational tensions (Bernerth, et al., 2016). Managing such tensions requires time, energy, and other psychological resources. If one decides to maintain the relationship, she or he needs to use maintenance strategies including expectation adjustment or open discussions with the other party (Sias, 2009). If one decides to end the relationship instead, she or he will need to engage in relationship disengagement behaviors such as avoidance of nonwork topics and nonverbal distancing signals (Sias et al., 2004). Efforts in coping with LMX tensions exhaust individual's resources and lead to energy depletion. The more intensive LMX tensions are, the more resources they consume. When the amount of resources consumed exceeds or threatens an individual's resource pool, they would feel pressured and stressful at work. Thus, I propose that LMX tensions positively relate to stress.

H1: Leader LMX tensions: a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP are positively related to stress.

H2: Member LMX tensions: a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC are positively related to stress.

LMX tensions present situations in which relational demands tax the capacity of LMX partners. Those depleted LMX partners are less optimistic and recall less positive aspects of themselves (Fischer, Greitemeyer, & Frey, 2007). Even worse, they have fewer resources available to regulate their emotions to stay positive or neutral. Accordingly, tensional interactions are found to cause intense negative emotions, such as anxiety and depression (Reijntjes, Kamphuis, Prinzie, & Telch, 2010; Scrimin, Mason, & Moscardino, 2014). LMX tensions are thus proposed to associate with negative affect.

H3: Leader LMX tensions a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP are positively related to negative affect.

H4: Member LMX tensions: a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC are positively related to negative affect.

Because resource investment will result in strain when resulting resource gains are insufficient, social resources may buffer the impact of LMX tensions on stress (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bakker, Demerouti, & Schaufeli, 2003). Coworker support is a common social resource available in the work setting (Hobfoll, 2001). Such support can both widen one's resource reservoir and also replace or reinforce other resources that are lacking (Halbesleben, 2006; Hobfoll, 1988). This becomes even more important in the context of resource loss, when it replenishes one's resource pool (Hobfoll, 2001). Indeed, coworker support is a well-known situational variable that buffers against work strain (Leiter & Maslach, 1988; see also, Halbesleben, 2006 meta-analysis).
H5: The positive associations between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and stress are moderated by coworker support, such that the associations are weaker when coworker support is high.

H6: The positive associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and stress are moderated by coworker support, such that the associations are weaker when coworker support is high.

The replenishment of resources via coworker support can also help LMX partners regulate negative emotions caused by LMX tensions (Gross, 2002; Jackson, Malmstadt, Larson, & Davidson, 2000; Johns, Inzlicht, & Schmader, 2008). Additionally, coworker support indicates that an individual is accepted and valued in the social environment, which generates positive feelings about oneself and the environment (Measelle, Stice, & Springer, 2006; Pierce, Frone, Russell, Cooper, & Mudar, 2000). Thus, coworker support will buffer the effect of LMX tensions on negative affect.

H7: The positive associations between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and negative affect are moderated by coworker support, such that the associations are weaker when coworker support is high.

H8: The positive associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and negative affect are moderated by coworker support, such that the associations are weaker when coworker support is high.

People build interpersonal relationships to satisfy needs for belongingness, support, and identity formation (Baxter, 1990; Sprecher & Felmlee, 2000; McNamee & Gergen 1999; Sluss & Ashforth, 2007). When relationships become a source of stress rather than support, individuals will be less satisfied with the relationship (Sias et al., 2004). Relationship satisfaction will be

reduced if the relationship demands too much time and energy to manage or maintain (Morrison & Nolan, 2007). Meanwhile, LMX tensions change the ratio of resource gains and costs in the LMX. As LMX becomes more resource consuming, people become less committed to the tension-filled relationship. They are more likely to disengage, especially when desirable alternatives are available (Emerson, 1962; Sprecher, 1992).

Stress presents an unpleasant state resulting from resource depletion (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bakker et al., 2003). People's attitudinal reactions to stress are dependent on their attributions for it (Moore, 2000). Hence, stress caused by job demands that constrain individuals' personal development and work-related accomplishment reduces work attitudes such as job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intention (e.g., Podsakoff, LePine, & LePine, 2007; Vandenberghe, Panaccio, Bentein, Mignonac, & Roussel, 2011). In the same vein, when workers feel pressured due to LMX tensions, their satisfaction and commitment towards the leader-member dyad relationship will decrease. They are less motivated to invest resources in LMX to sustain the already depleted resource pool. With the above in mind, I hypothesize:

H9: Stress mediates the associations between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship satisfaction.

H10: Stress mediates the association between leader LMX tensions a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship commitment

H11: Stress mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship disengagement intention.

H12: Stress mediates the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship satisfaction. *H13: Stress mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship commitment*

H14: Stress mediates the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD,c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship disengagement intention.

LMX tensions direct the limited resources workers have to the leader-member relationship and tensions, sapping energy and time that could be otherwise used to directly benefit performance (Sias, 2009; Sias et al., 2004). With depleted resources, individuals may not be able to deliver high-quality task performance to the degree they could give sufficient resources (Lee & Ashforth, 1996; Methot, Lepine, Podsakoff, & Christian, 2015; Wright & Bonett, 1997; Wright & Cropanzano, 1998). Nor do they have spare energy and time to go above and beyond to engage in organizational citizenship behaviors towards individuals or organizations (Cropanzano, Rupp, & Byrne, 2003). To protect the resources still left in the resource pool, stressful individuals tend to emphasize withdrawal coping mechanisms (Leiter, 1991, 1993). Indeed, Sias and her colleagues' (2004, 2009) qualitative studies reported greater emotional stress and reduced job performance resulting from managing tension-filled close relationships with work associates. Echoing these studies, Morrison and Nolan (2007) found that managing close relationships at work distracts one's attention from work. It harms both individual and team performance and creates emotional stress for workers.

H15: Stress mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader task performance.

H16: Stress mediates the association between leader LMX tensions a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader OCB.

H17: Stress mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader withdrawal behavior.

H18: Stress mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member task performance.

H19: Stress mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member OCB.

H20: Stress mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member withdrawal behavior.

According to affect infusion model, affect has a direct impact on individuals' cognitive and behavioral processes (Forgas & George, 2001). One's attitudes toward an object is partially a function of the affect that "infuses" his or her cognitive processing in forming evaluations of the object in question (Thoresen, Kaplan, et al., 2003). Based on this, affect will color the evaluation of leader-member relationships. Specifically, positive affect results in positive evaluations and negative affect leads to negative evaluations. Thus, negative affect caused by LMX tensions will reduce relationship satisfaction and relationship commitment among LMX partners. LMX partners experiencing negative affect also likely have stronger intent to disengage from LMX.

H21: Negative affect mediates the associations between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship satisfaction.

H22: Negative affect mediates the association between leader LMX tensions a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship commitment

H23: Negative affect mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader relationship disengagement intention. *H24: Negative affect mediates the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship satisfaction.*

H25: Negative affect mediates the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship commitment

H26: Negative affect mediates the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC,b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship disengagement intention.

Moreover, negative affect constrains individuals' cognitive resources (Fredrickson, 2004). It impairs the efficient functioning of the goal-directed attentional system and increases attention to threat-related stimuli (Eysenck, Derakshan, Santos, & Calvo, 2007). As a result, negative affect decreases accuracy in performing work memory tasks (Osaka, Minamoto, Yaoi, & Osaka, 2011). Reduced performance quality results. Additionally, negative affect motivates behavior change to cope with the unpleasant emotional reactions due to stressors (Lazarus, 1991). Negative affect induced by LMX tensions thus limits one's engagement in OCBs and increases the occurrence of withdrawal behaviors.

H27: Negative affect mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader task performance.

H28: Negative affect mediates the association between leader LMX tensions a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader OCB.

H29: Negative affect mediates the association between leader LMX tensions, a) DIR, b) FAV, and c) DEP, and leader withdrawal behavior.

H30: Negative affect mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC,
b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member task performance.

H31: Negative affect mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC,b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member OCB.

H32: Negative affect mediates the association between member LMX tensions, a) CBC,
b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member withdrawal behavior.

Study 2 Method

Sample and Procedures

Study invitations were sent to employees in two large public organizations in China with the help of two data collection coordinators. The coordinators first identified leaders and members and then distributed appropriate invitations to them via online groups. Those who were interested in the study could open surveys through links provided in the invitations. Data were collected at two time points. Time 1 survey assessed demographics, control variables, LMX tensions, stress, negative affect, and coworker support. Time 2 survey assessed all outcome variables. A total of 151 leaders and 229 members completed Time 1 survey. One week later, Time 2 survey link was sent to participants who have finished Time 1 survey. In total, 133 leaders and 180 members completed Time 2 survey. Five identifier questions (e.g., "In what city were you born", "What is your birth month?") were included in both surveys and used to match Time 1 and Time 2 survey responses. The matching process results in final samples of 103 leaders and 152 members.

In the final leader sample, participants, on average, were 39.95 years old (SD = 6.78). Sixty-one percent of them were male. Most of them had at least a bachelor's degree (90.4%) and were married (90.4%). The average number of kids they had was 1.03 (SD = .59). The mean tenure with the current organization was 11.35 years (SD = 6.77). On average, they had worked with the member they referred to in survey completion for 4.87 years (SD = 3.53).

In the final member sample, the mean age was 32.32 years old (SD = 5.51). The average number of children they had was .58 (SD = .62). About half of them were male (48%). Most of the participants had at least a bachelor's degree (82.3%). Fifty-nine percent of them were married. They had an average organizational tenure was 6.01 years (SD = 4.94). The mean relationship tenure with the leader they referred to in the survey was 3.50 years (SD = 3.24).

Measures

LMX tensions. The scales developed in Study 1 were used to measure leader and member LMX tensions. Cronbach's alphas of leader tensions, DIR, FAV, and DEP were .85, .88, .88 respectively. Cronbach's alphas of member tensions, CBC, WLB, WLD, WQE, WAR, and OC, were .90, .95, .91, .79, .92, .86 respectively.

Stress. I measured stress using Keller's (1984) 4-item scale. Participants reported the degree to which they agreed with statements in each item on a scale ranging from 1 = strongly *disagree* to 6 = strongly *agree*. A sample item was "I feel pressured in my job". Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .91 and .86 respectively.

Negative affect. I used 10 items from Watson, Clark, and Tellegen's (1998) scale. It consists of ten words that describe different feelings and emotions. Participants were asked to read each item and indicate to what extent they have felt the emotions in the past few weeks on a scale ranging from 1 = not at all to 6 = extremely. A sample item was "distressed". Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .89 and .91 respectively.

Relationship satisfaction. I used Lemay and Dudley's (2011) 3-item scale to measure leader's and member's satisfaction with their LMX. Participants reported their level of agreement on three statements using a scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly *agree.* A sample item was "I feel satisfied with our relationship". Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .89 and .94 respectively.

Relationship commitment. Van der Vegt, Bunderson, and Oosterhof's (2006) 4-item scale was used to measure LMX parties' commitment to leader-member relationship Participants were asked to rate their agreement on statements like "I am very committed to maintaining my relationship with my supervisor/subordinate" on a scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = *strongly agree.* Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .77 and .91 respectively.

Relationship disengagement intention. I measured this variable using 9 items adjusted from Sias et al.'s (2004) workplace relationship disengagement scale. Participants rated the extent to which they wanted to engage in behaviors such as "Stop inviting him or her out after work" on a scale ranging from 1 = not at all to 6 = very much. Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .89 and .96 respectively.

Task performance. I measured task performance using five items from Williams and Anderson's (1991) measure. Participants self-reported their task-focused contributions using a scale ranging from $1 = strongly \ disagree$ to $6 = strongly \ agree$. A sample item was "I adequately complete assigned duties". Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .92 and .93 respectively.

OCB. I measured OCB using five items from van Dyne and LePine's (1998) scale. Participants rated their frequency to engage in behaviors beneficial to work group described in items on a scale ranging from 1 = never to 6 = always. A sample item was "I assist others in this group with their work for the benefit of the group". Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .75 and .93 respectively.

Work withdrawal. I assessed work withdrawal using three items adapted from Hammer, Bauer, and Grandey's (2003) scale. Participants rated their frequency to engage in withdrawal behaviors like "Be late to work" on a scale ranging from 1 = never to 6 = always. Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .78 and .93 respectively.

Coworker support. I measured this variable using items adapted from Mossholder, Settoon, and Henagan's (2005) 6-item scale. A sample item was "My coworkers are willing to extend themselves in order to help me perform my job to the best of my ability". Participants rated their agreement on items using a scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly*agree.* Cronbach's alphas for leader sample and member sample were .83 and .79 respectively.

Controls. First, dyadic tenure is not only positively associated with LMX perception (e.g., Sears & Hackett, 2011; Sin et al., 2009), but also influences the future effort in maintaining this relationship (Maslyn & Uhl-Bien, 2002). Hence, I controlled for leader-member dyadic tenure. It was based on participants' reports of how long they had been working with the member/leader they thought of in survey completion. Second, I controlled for participants' attachment style. Attachment style describes "the propensity of human beings to make strong affectional bonds to particular others" (Bowlby, 1977, p. 201). It has been found to be a predictor of conflict resolution and relationship satisfaction in interpersonal relationships (e.g., Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Kirkpatrick & Davis, 1994; Pistole, 1989). Researchers have even argued that leader-member relations can be conceptualized in attachment-theory (Bowlby, 1973; Davidovitz, Mikulincer, Shaver, Izsak, & Popper, 2007). Scholars have identified four types of attachment style: secure, preoccupied, dismissing, and fearful (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Pistole, 1989). As the current study examines relational experiences in highquality LMX, I focused on only two types: secure and dismissing. Secure indicates a sense of lovability and an expectation that others are generally accepting and responsive. Dismissing also presents a sense of lovability, but individuals with a dismissing style maintain a sense of independence and invulnerability to avoid disappointments in close relationships. Attachment style was assessed using Bartholomew and Horowitz's (1991) self-report attachment style prototypes.

Study 2 Results

I utilized path analysis in Mplus 7.2 (Muthén & Muthén, 2012) to test hypotheses.

Leader Outcomes

As a manipulation check, I measured participants' LMX with the subordinates they thought about during survey completion. LMX was assessed using Graen and Uhl-Bien's (1995) 7-item scale ($1 = strongly \ disagree, \ 6 = strongly \ agree, \ \alpha = .80$). The average LMX was 4.34 (SD = .83).

Table 6 presents bivariate correlations and descriptive statistics of variables based on leader sample data. Table 7-9 shows results of path analyses with DIR, FAV, and DEP as the independent variable. Supporting H1a-H1c, DIR (b = .15, p < .01), FAV (b = .16, p < .01), and DEP (b = .22, p < .001) were positively related to stress. H3a-H3c proposed that DIR, FAV, and DEP were positively related to leader negative affect. As shown in Table 6-8, H3a and H3c were supported (DIR: b = .12, p < .01; DEP: b = .11, p < .05). The positive association between FAV and leader negative affect was marginally significant (b = .08, p = .09). H5a-5c hypothesized that the positive relationships between DIR, FAV, and DEP and stress would be moderated by coworker support. Yet none of the hypotheses were supported (DIR: b = .00, *n.s.*; FAV: b = .03, *n.s.*; DEP: b = -.09, *n.s.*). Similarly, H7a-7c expected the associations between DIR, FAV, and DEP and negative affect were conditioned by coworker support, but none were supported (DIR: b = .07, *n.s.*; FAV: b = .07, *n.s.*; DEP: b = .07, *n.s.*).

To test the indirect effects of leader LMX tensions on outcome variables through stress and negative affect, I used 10,000 bootstrap samples to obtain confidence internals for the proposed indirect effects. H9 predicted that stress mediated the associations between leader LMX tensions and leader relationship satisfaction. As shown in Table 10, only H9a was supported, as the indirect effect of stress on the relationship between DIR and relationship satisfaction was significant (*indirect effect* = -.014, 95% CI [-.046, -.001]). Other indirect effects were not significant (FAV: *indirect effect* = -.013, 95% CI [-.047, .001]; DEP: *indirect effect* = -.022, 95% CI [-.061, .002]). The indirect effects of leader LMX tensions on leader relationship commitment (DIR: *indirect effect* = .001, 95% CI [-.019, .020]; FAV: *indirect effect* = .001, 95% *CI* [-.014, .030]; DEP: *indirect effect* = .000, 95% *CI* [-.027, .033]), and leader relationship disengagement intention (DIR: indirect effect = .000, 95% CI [-.024, .022]; FAV: indirect effect = -.002, 95% CI [-.042, .015]; DEP: indirect effect = -.006, 95% CI [-.051, .025]) through stress were not significant either, thus H10 and H11 were not supported. H15-H17 proposed that leader LMX tensions negatively related to leader task performance, and OCB, and positively related to withdrawal behaviors through stress. I did not find support for these hypotheses (task performance: *indirect effects* = -.015, -.017, -.026, 95% CIs [-.073, .010; -.086, .008; -.099, .028] respectively for DIR, FAV, and DEP; OCB: indirect effects = -.009; -.010, -.019, 95% CIs [-

.053, .016; -.057, .014; -.076, .033] respectively for DIR, FAV, and DEP; withdrawal: *indirect effects* = -.002; -.004, -.008, *95% CIs* [-.021, .012; -.029, .008; -.036, .017] respectively for DIR, FAV, and DEP).

Table 10 also shows the indirect effects of negative affect on the relationships between leader LMX tensions and leader outcomes. Again, I failed to find support for H21-23, or H27-29. Specifically, H21 expected that leader negative affect mediated the associations between a) DIR, b) FAV, c) DEP and leader relationship satisfaction. The results showed that the indirect effects were not significant for each leader LMX tension (DIR: *indirect effect* = -.014, 95% CI [-.050, .000]; FAV: indirect effect = -.008, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indirect effect = -.014, 95\% CI [-.039, .004]; DEP: indire .051, .004]). Similarly, the results did not show significant indirect effects of negative affect on the links between leader LMX tensions and leader relationship commitment and disengagement intention (relationship commitment: DIR: *indirect effect* = -.004, 95% CI [-.036, .015]; FAV: *indirect effect* = -.002, 95% CI [-.029, .008]; DEP: *indirect effect* = -.005, 95% CI [-.040, .014]; relationship disengagement intention: DIR: *indirect effect* = .003, 95% CI [-.018, .032]; FAV: *indirect effect* = .002, 95% *CI* [-.009, .028]; DEP: *indirect effect* = .003, 95% *CI* [-.019, .034]). H27-29 concerns behavioral outcomes. Respectively, the results of indirect effects of negative affect on DIR, FAV, DEP and leader task performance were -.004; -.001; -.002 with 95% CIs [-.039, .024], [-.030, .015], [-.036, .032] respectively. The indirect effects of negative affect on DIR, FAV, DEP and leader OCB were -.012; -.007; -.013 with 95% CIs [-.049, .005], [-.042, .004], [-.056, .005]. The indirect effects of negative affect on DIR, FAV, DEP and leader withdrawal behavior were .00; -.001; -.001 with 95% CIs [-.021, .018], [-.017, .001], [-.024, .017].

Member Outcomes

As a manipulation check, I measured participants' LMX with the subordinates they thought about during survey completion. LMX was assessed using Graen and Uhl-Bien's (1995) 7-item scale ($1 = strongly \ disagree, 6 = strongly \ agree, \alpha = .87$). The average LMX was 4.02 (SD = .99).

Table 11 presents the means, standard deviations, and bivariate correlations of study 2 variables using member data. H2 expected that the six types of member tensions a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, and f) OC were positively related to stress. Consistent with H2a, CBC was positively related to stress (see table 11, b = .19, p < .001). Supporting H2b, H2e, and H2f, WLD (b = .09, p < .05), WLB (b = .10, p < .05), and OC (b = .13, p < .05) were associated with stress positively as well. However, as shown in Table 14, WQE was not related to stress, thus H2c was not supported (b = -.05, n.s.). WAR was marginally related to stress, so H2d was only marginally supported (b = .09, p = .05). H4 proposed that member LMX tensions: a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC were positively related to negative affect. CBC (b =.21, p < .001), WLD (b = .21, p < .001), WAR (b = .14, p < .05), WLB (b = .27, p < .001), OC (b= .42, p < .001) were positively linked with negative affect, supporting H4a-4b, and H4d-4f. Yet, the association between WQE and negative affect was only marginally supported (H3c, b = .12, p= .098). H6 predicted that the positive relationships between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and stress were moderated by coworker support. H8 proposed that coworker support would moderate the positive associations between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and negative affect. Table 12-17 provides the results. They show that none of the interaction terms were significant, thus neither H6 nor H8 were supported.

Table 18 shows the results of indirect effects of member LMX tensions on member outcomes through two mediators - stress and negative affect using 10,000 bootstrapping samples. H12 stated that stress mediated the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship satisfaction. H12a was supported, as the indirect effect of stress on the link between CBC and relationship satisfaction was significant (*indirect effect* = -.046, 95% CI [-.114, -.006]). H12e was also supported (*indirect* effect = -.030, 95% CI [-.081, -.002]). H12b-12d and H12f were not supported. Similarly, although H13 proposed the mediating effect of stress on the associations between member LMX tensions on relationship commitment, stress only significantly mediated the links between CBC, WLB and relationship commitment, supporting H13a and H13e (CBC: *indirect effect* = -.045, *95% CI* [-.107, -.008]; WLB *indirect effect* = -.028, *95% CI* [-.078, -.002]). H13b-13d and H13f were not supported. H14 expected that stress mediated the associations between member LMX tensions, a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship disengagement intention. Again, only H14a and H14e were supported, as their indirect effects were significant (CBC: *indirect effect* = .067, 95% CI [.023, .138]; WLD: *indirect effect* = .041, 95%CI [.002, .105]). For behavioral outcomes, H18 expected that a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, and f) OC influenced member task performance through stress. I only found support for H18a and H18e (CBC: *indirect effect* = -.045, 95% CI [-.099, -.013]; WLD: *indirect effect* = -.081, 95%*CI* [-.001, -.014]). H19 proposed that stress mediated the associations between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, and f) OC and OCB. H20 expected the mediation effect of stress on links between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, and f) OC and withdrawal behaviors. I failed to find support for H19 and H20.

H24 proposed that negative affect mediated the associations between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship satisfaction. H24a, H24b, H24e, and H24f were supported, as the indirect effects of negative affect on links between CBC (indirect effect = -.077, 95% CI [-.164, -.023]), WLD (indirect effect = -.082, 95% CI [-.162, -.034]), WLB (*indirect effect* = -.111, 95% CI [-.217, -.047]), and OC (*indirect effect* = -.186, 95% CI [-.352, -.091]) and relationship satisfaction were significant. H24b and H24c were not supported. H25 concerned the mediating effect of negative affect on relationships between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship commitment. Except H25b and H25c, the hypotheses were supported. CBC (*indirect effect* = -.071, 95% CI [-.146, -.024]), WLD (*indirect effect* = -.073, 95% CI [-.139, -.033]), WLB (*indirect effect* = -.101, 95% CI [-.192, -.044]), and OC (*indirect effect* = -.170, 95% CI [-.327, -.085]) affected member relationship commitment through negative affect. H26 predicted that negative affect mediated the relationships between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC, and member relationship disengagement intention. Again, I did not find support for neither H26b nor H26c. H26a H26b, H26e, and H26f were supported. The indirect effects of CBC, WLD, WLB, and OC were .064 (95% CI [.017, .145]), .061(95% CI [.014, .138]), .092(95% CI [.032, .195]), .154 (95% CI [.061, .318]) respectively.

In terms of behavioral outcomes, H30 proposed that a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC influenced member task performance via negative affect. Supporting H30b, H30e, and H30f, the indirect effects of negative affect were significant on relationships between WLD (*indirect effect* = -.047, 95% CI [-.114, -.011]), WLB (*indirect effect* = -.041, 95% CI [-.108, -.004]), and OC (*indirect effect* = -.08, 95% CI [-.186, -.021]), and task performance. H30a and H30b-30c were not supported. H31 expected that negative affect mediated the associations between a) CBC, b) WLD, c) WQE, d) WAR, e) WLB, f) OC and member OCB. The indirect effects of negative affect was significant for the links between CBC (*indirect effect* = -.027, 95% *CI*[-.077, -.021]), WLD(*indirect effect* = -.039, 95% *CI*[-.095, -.007]), WLB(*indirect effect* = -.047, 95% *CI*[-.120, -.007]), and OC(*indirect effect* = -.085, 95% *CI*[-.185, -.003]) and OCB, supporting H31a-31b, and H31e-31f. H31c and H31d were not supported. H32 expected the indirect effects of negative affect on the links between the six types of member tensions and withdrawal behaviors. However, no support was found for H32. So negative affect did not mediate the relationships between member tensions and withdrawal behaviors.

In sum, for members, except that WQE was marginally significant, all other member tensions were positively related to negative affect. Member tensions were positively linked with stress except WQE and WAR (marginally). Negative affect mediated the relationships between some member LMX tensions with relationship attitudes, task performance, and OCB. For stress, it mediated the associations between some member LMX tensions and relationship attitudes and task performance. Its indirect effects on OCB and withdrawal behaviors were not significant. For leaders, DIR, and DEP were positively associated with leader negative affect, with FAV as marginally significant. All three types of leader tensions were positively related to stress. However, the indirect effects of negative affect on leader relationship attitudes and work behaviors were not supported. Stress only exerted significant indirect effect on the relationship between DIR and relationship satisfaction. Other indirect effects were not supported.

In sum, in terms of leader tensions, DIR and DEP were positively related to stress and negative affect. FAV only significantly related to stress. Only the indirect effect of stress on the relationship between DIR and leader relationship satisfaction was supported. Regarding member tensions, CBC, WLD, WLB, and OC were positively associated with stress and negative affect.

WAR only significantly linked with negative affect. WQE was not related to stress or negative affect. Neither WQE nor WAR influenced member outcomes through negative affect or stress. Through negative affect, WLD, WLB, and OC affected relationship satisfaction, relationship commitment, relationship disengagement, task performance, and OCB. Negative affect also mediated the relationships between CBC and relationship satisfaction, relationship commitment, relationship disengagement, and OCB, but not task performance and withdrawal. However, stress only showed significant mediating effects on links between CBC, WLB and member outcomes including relationship satisfaction, relationship commitment, relationship satisfaction, relationship disengagement intention, and task performance.

	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. LMX tenure	4.87	3.53														
2. Secure	3.68	.91	04													
3. Dismissing	4.11	.93	.07	.05												
4. DIR	2.87	1.24	.03	.00	10											
5. FAV	2.62	1.14	06	01	.05	.28**										
6. DEP	2.78	1.12	08	.02	.08	.37**	.51**									
7. Coworker support	4.17	.89	.05	.11	.11	18**	11	.01								
8. Stress	3.03	.87	12	.05	10	.14*	.11	.22**	29**							
9. Negative affect	2.24	.80	10	12	.05	.18**	.06	.12	29**	.25**						
10. Relationship																
satisfaction	4.79	.69	.07	.05	.14*	07	11	12	.14*	14*	12					
11. Relationship																
commitment	4.37	.67	.07	.04	.09	03	02	.02	.09	01	04	.66**				
12. Disengagement																
intention	2.32	.73	.01	02	.01	.10	.17**	.16*	06	.00	.04	36**	39**			
13. Task performance	4.81	.95	.12	.19	.16	.05	.06	07	.32**	17	07	.32**	.25**	16		
14. OCB	3.85	.82	.09	.08	.10	04	.01	.04	.36**	10	14	.35**	.30**	08	.44**	
15. Withdrawal	2.03	.64	.02	06	01	.04	.10	.01	07	06	.02	.11	01	.01	42**	09

 Table 6: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations between Variables-Leader Data

Note. *N* = 103.

p < .05; p < .01.

	Negati	ve			Relation	nship	Relation	ship	Disengage	ment	Task					
	affect		Stress		satisfac	tion	commitr	nent	intention		perform	nance	OCB		Withc	drawal
Controls																
LMX tenure	03	02	03	03	.01	.01	.01	.01	.00	.00	.02	.03	.02	.02	.00	.00
Secure	13*	12*	.01	.03	$.05^{*}$.07	.03	.04	03	03	$.20^{*}$.21*	.06	.08	05	05
Dismissing	.06	.09	05	03	.09	.07	.09	.08	.01	.01	.15	.14	.04	.03	01	01
Independent variable																
DIR	.12**	.10*	.15**	.12*	02	02	01	02	.06	.07	.04	.04	03	03	.01	.01
Moderator																
Coworker support		19**		27**												
DIR X Coworker support		.07		.00												
Mediator																
Negative affect					14 [†]		04		.03		04		12		.00	
Stress						12 [†]		.01		03		13		08		02
R^2	$.08^{\dagger}$.14**	$.07^{\dagger}$.13**	.05	.05	.03	.02	.02	.02	.08	$.09^{\dagger}$.04	.03	.01	.01

Table 7: Relationships between DIR, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes

Note. N = 103.

 $^{\dagger} p < .10; p < .05; p < .01.$

	Neg	gative			Relatio	onship	Relatio	nship	Disengag	gement	Та	sk				
	af	fect	St	ress	satisfa	ction	commi	tment	intent	ion	perform	mance	00	СВ	Withc	lrawal
Controls																
LMX tenure	02	02	03	02	.01	.01	.01	.01	.01	.01	.03	.03	.01	.01	.01	.01
Secure	13*	12 [†]	.01	.03	.05*	.07	.03	.04	03	03	$.18^{\dagger}$	$.18^{\dagger}$.06	.08	05	05
Dismissing	.03	.06	09	05	.10	.08	.09	.09	01	01	.13	.11	.04	.03	01	02
Independent variable																
FAV	$.08^{\dagger}$.06	.16**	.12*	08^{\dagger}	07	02	02	.13**	.13*	.07	.09	.02	.02	.07	.07
Moderator																
Coworker support		21**		26**												
FAV X Coworker support		.07		.03												
Mediator																
Negative affect					13 [†]		04		.03		03		12		01	
Stress						- .11 [†]		.01		02		15		09		03
R^2	.05	.12*	$.06^{\dagger}$.13**	$.07^{\dagger}$	$.07^{\dagger}$.03	.02	.05	.05	.07	$.10^{\dagger}$.03	.03	.02	.02

Table 8: Relationships between FAV, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes

Note. N = 103.

[†]p < .10; p < .05; p < .01.

	Neg	gative			Relatio	onship	Relatio	nship	Disengag	gement	Та	sk				
	af	ffect	St	ress	satisfa	action	commi	tment	intent	ion	perfor	mance	00	СВ	Withd	lrawal
Controls																
LMX tenure	02	02	02	02	.01	.01	.01	.01	.01	.01	.03	.03	.01	.01	.01	.01
Secure	14*	13*	.01	.01	.05	.07	.03	.04	03	03	.21*	.21*	.06	.08	05	05
Dismissing	.03	.04	10	09	$.10^{\dagger}$.09	.09	.09	01	02	.15	.13	.04	.03	01	02
Independent variable																
DEP	.11*	.11*	.22***	.22***	07	06	.01	.00	.11	.12*	04	02	.02	.02	.05	.06
Moderator																
Coworker support		24***		30***												
DEP X Coworker support		07		09												
Mediator																
Negative affect					13 [†]		05		.03*		02		12		01	
Stress						10		.00		03		12		09		04
R^2	$.07^{\dagger}$.14**	.11*	.19**	$.06^{\dagger}$	$.06^{\dagger}$.03	.02	.04	.04	.08	.09	.03	.03	.01	.02
<i>Note</i> . <i>N</i> = 103.																

Table 9: Relationships between DEP, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes

[†]p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.

	R	elationsh	ip	R	elationsh	nip	Dis	sengagen	nent									
	5	atisfactio	n	С	ommitme	ent		intention	ı	Tasl	k perforn	nance		OCB		V	Vithdraw	al
		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%
	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CIH	Est.	CI L	CIH	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H
Negat	ive																	
affect																		
DIR	014	050	.000	004	036	.015	.003	018	.032	004	039	.024	012	049	.005	.000	021	.018
FAV	008	039	.004	002	029	.008	.002	009	.028	001	030	.015	007	042	.004	001	017	.001
DEP	014	051	.004	005	040	.014	.003	019	.034	002	036	.032	013	056	.005	001	024	.017
Stress																		
DIR	014	046	001	.001	019	.020	.000	024	.022	015	073	.010	009	053	.016	002	021	.012
FAV	013	047	.001	.001	014	.030	002	042	.015	017	086	.008	010	057	.014	004	029	.008
DEP	022	061	.002	.000	027	.033	006	051	.025	026	099	.028	019	076	.033	008	036	.017

Table 10: Indirect Effects of Leader LMX Tensions on Outcomes via Negative Affect and Stress

Notes: N = 103. Bootstrap = 10,000. Est. = Effect size estimate.

	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
1. LMX tenure	3.50	3.24																	
2. Secure	3.67	1.08	.05																
3. Dismissing	3.81	.96	.03	.47**															
4. CBC	2.30	1.09	06	06	01														
5. WLD	2.90	1.40	.10	.19**	.06	.35**													
6. WQE	4.10	1.00	.12	.27**	.16*	.10	.32**												
7. WAR	2.66	1.17	.15*	.11	.00	.48**	.58**	.29**											
8. WLB	1.91	1.12	.06	01	06	.49**	.35**	.17**	.56**										
9. OC	1.94	.79	.13	.07	01	.22**	.30**	.18**	.37**	.44**									
10. Cosupport	3.77	.89	.00	.28**	.10	14*	12	.14*	13*	13	13*								
11. Stress	3.21	.78	.09	15*	17*	.26**	.10	08	.10	.15*	.11	21***							
12. NA	2.16	.97	.07	06	07	.25**	.26**	.12	.19**	.31**	.33**	25***	.40***						
13. Resat	4.34	1.17	.03	.16	.19*	28**	16	.21*	08	23*	07	.33**	22*	38**					
14. Recom	4.19	.99	.14	.21*	.11	29**	19*	.22*	12	20*	05	.27**	26***	36**	.77**				
15. DisenIntent	2.76	1.25	08	.01	.07	.30**	.24**	03	.20*	.23*	.12	18*	.26**	.30**	40**	44**			
16. Task																			
performance	4.68	1.02	.09	.15	.16	37**	.04	.09	09	28**	09	.04	30***	14	.36**	.43**	20*		
17. OCB	3.74	1.00	.23*	.20*	.09	21*	.03	.31**	.18*	.00	.11	.14	15	17	.39**	.36**	19*	.42**	
18. Withdrawal	1.89	.74	10	.18*	.01	.29**	.23**	.03	.21*	.28**	.12	01	.07	.12	18*	20*	.19*	29**	07

Table 11: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations between Variables-Member Data

Note. N = 152. p < .05; p < .01.

Cosupport = Coworker support; NA = Negative affect; Resat = Relationship satisfaction; Recom = Relationship commitment; DisenIntent = Disengagement intention.

					Relati	onship	Relatio	onship	Disenga	gement	Та	sk				
	Negati	ve affect	Str	ess	satisfa	action	comm	itment	inten	tion	perform	mance	00	СВ	With	drawal
Controls																
LMX tenure	.03	.02	$.03^{\dagger}$	$.03^{\dagger}$.00	01	.04	.03	03	02	.01	.01	$.06^{*}$.06*	03	03
Secure	.00	.06	10^{\dagger}	07	.03	.00	.11	.09	.08	.12	.04	.02	.12	.11	.18**	.18**
Dismissing	08	09	09	10	.16	.18	.01	.03	.14	.14	.16	$.16^{\dagger}$	01	.00	07	07
Independent variable																
CBC	.21***	.18**	.19***	.18***	24**	25*	19 [*]	20*	.30**	.27**	33***	30***	- .16 [*]	16*	.21***	.22***
Moderator																
Coworker																
support		26***		12*												
CBC X	Coworker															
support		.07		.07												
Mediator																
Negative																
affect					41***		38***		.34**		13		14		.09	
Stress						27**		27*		.40**		27*		10		.01
R^2	.07*	.13**	.13**	.16***	.25**	.16*	.25***	.16**	.21**	.19**	.24**	.27***	.14*	.13*	.18**	.17**

Table 12: Relationships between CBC, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes

[†]p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.

				Relati	onship	Relation	onship	Disenga	agement	Та	ask				
Negativ	e affect	St	ress	satisfa	action	comm	itment	inter	ntion	perfor	mance	00	СВ	Withc	lrawal
.01	.01	.02	.02	.01	.00	.04	.04	04	03	.02	.01	.07	$.07^{*}$	04	04
06	.02	13*	09	.08	.07	.16*	$.15^{\dagger}$	01	.03	.07	.13	.13	.13	.13 [†]	.13*
06	08	08	09	.13	.14	01	.00	.17	.17	.13	.13	03	02	05	05
.21***	.19***	.09*	.10*	09	17**	10	17**	.17*	.23**	.04	.00	.03	02	$.10^{\dagger}$.11*
	24**		14*												
pport	.11		.06												
				41***		36***		.30*		23*		19 [†]		.08	
					35**		33**		.48***		39**		17		.09
.10**	.18***	$.08^{*}$.12**	.20**	.16*	.21**	.18**	.16**	.22**	$.10^{\dagger}$.15*	.11*	$.09^{\dagger}$.11*	.11*
	Negativ .01 06 06 .21***	Negative affect .01 .01 06 .02 06 08 .21*** .19*** 10** .18***	Negative affect St .01 .01 .02 06 .02 13* 06 08 08 .21*** .19*** .09* 24** .11 .10** .18*** .08*	Stress .01 .01 .02 .02 06 .02 13^* 09 06 08 08 09 .21*** .19*** .09* .10* 24** 14^* .06 .10** .18*** .08* .12**	RelationNegative affectStresssatisfield.01.01.02.02.01 06 .02 13^* 09 .08 06 08 08 09 .13.21***.19***.09*.10* 09 24^{**} 14^* 14^* .10**.18***.08*.12**.20**	Negative affectStressRelationship satisfaction.01.01.02.02.01.0006.02 13^* 09.08.0706080809.13.14.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**24**14*.0641***35**.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*	Negative affectStressRelationship satisfactionRelation comm.01.01.02.02.01.00.0406.02 13^* 09.08.07.16*06080809.13.1401.21***.19***.09*.10*09 17^{**} 10.21***.11.0641^{***} 36^{***} .10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**	Negative affectStressRelationship satisfactionRelationship commitment.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.0406.02 13^* 09.08.07.16^*.15^†06080809.13.1401.00.21***.19***.09*.10*09 17^{**} 10 17^{**} 24** 14^* 14^* 36^{***} 36^{***} 33^{**} .10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**	RelationshipRelationshipDisenseNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentinter.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040406.0213*09.08.07.16*.15*0106080809.13.1401.00.17.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**1017**.17*.21***.19.09*.10*0917**.30*.30*.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**	Negative affectStressRelationship satisfactionRelationship commitmentDisengagement intention.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.04040306.0213*09.08.07.16*.15†01.0306080809.13.1401.00.17.17.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**.1017**.17*.23**.pport.11.0641***36***.30*.48***.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTakeNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperfor.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040403.0206.0213*09.08.07.16*.15†01.03.0706080809.13.1401.00.17.17.13.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**1017**.17*.23**.0424**14*14*35**36***.30*23*.04.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**.10*	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformance.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040403.02.0106.0213*09.08.07.16*.15*01.03.07.1306080809.13.1401.00.17.17.13.13.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**1017**.17*.23**.04.0024**14*14*35**36***.30*23*39**.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**.10†.15*	Relationship Negative affectStressRelationship satisfactionDisengagement commitmentTask intentionOr.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040403.02.01.07.06.02 13^* .09.08.07.16^*.15^+01.03.07.13.13.06 08 08 09 .13.14 01 .00.17.17.13.1303.21***.19***.09*.10* 09 17^{**} 10^{**} $.17^*$.23**.04.00.03.21***.11.06 41^{***} 36^{***} $.30^*$ 23^* 23^* 19^+ .10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**.10^+.15*.11*	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformanceOCB.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040403.02.01.07.07*06.0213*09.08.07.16*.15*01.03.07.13.13.1306080809.13.1401.00.17.17.13.13.02.21***.19***.09*.10*0917**1017**.17*.23**.04.00.0302.21***.11.0641***36***.30*23*19*19*.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**.10*.15*.11*.09*	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformanceOCBWith.01.01.02.02.01.00.04.040403.02.01.07.07*0406.02 13^* 09.08.07.16*.15†01.03.07.13.13.13.13†06080809.13.1401.00.17.17.13.13030205.21***.19***.09*.10*09 17^{**} .10 17^{**} .17*.23**.04.00.0302.10*.24** 14^* 36^{***} 36^{***} 33^{**} $.48^{***}$ 23^* 19^{\dagger} .08.10**.18***.08*.12**.20**.16*.21**.18**.16**.22**.10†.15*.11*.09†.11*

Table 13: Relationships between WLD, Negative Affect, Stress, and Out	comes
---	-------

[†]p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.

	Neg	gative			Relatio	onship	Relatio	onship	Diseng	agement	Т	ask				
	af	fect	St	ress	satisfa	action	commi	tment	inte	ntion	perfo	rmance	00	СВ	With	drawa
Controls																
LMX tenure	.02	.02	$.03^{\dagger}$.03	01	01	.03	.03	04	03	.02	.02	.05	.05	03	03
Secure	04	.04	11 [†]	06	.02	.00	.10	.09	.05	.08	.08	.05	.09	.08	.15*	.10
Dismissing	07	09	09	09	.13	.15	02	.00	.17	.16	.13	.13	04	03	05	05
Independent variable																
WQE	$.12^{\dagger}$.14*	05	07	.22*	.14	.19*	.12	03	.06	.01	05	.29**	.26**	01	.02
Moderator																
Coworker support		33***		17**												
WQE X Coworker su	pport	03		07												
Mediator																
Negative affect					47***		43***		.41**		21 [*]		20*		$.14^{\dagger}$	
Stress						34**		33**		.52***		40***		12		.1
R^2	.02	.01***	$.06^{\dagger}$.10***	.22**	.11*	.23**	.12*	.14*	.14*	$.10^{\dagger}$.16*	.18**	.15*	$.09^{\dagger}$.0

Table 14: Relationship	ips between WQE	, Negative Affect,	Stress, and Outcomes

$$^{\dagger}p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.$$

Negative				Relationship		Relationship		Disengagement		Task					
at	ffect	St	ress	satisfa	action	commi	tment	inter	ntion	perfo	rmance	00	СВ	With	drawal
.05	.01	.02	.02	.01	.01	$.05^{\dagger}$.05	06	05	.03	.02	$.06^{\dagger}$	$.06^{\dagger}$	05*	05 [†]
04	.05	- .13 [*]	08	.07	.04	$.15^{\dagger}$.12	.01	.06	.10	.06	.13	.11	.14*	.14*
05	08	08	10	.12	.14	03	02	$.20^{\dagger}$	$.20^{\dagger}$.11	.11	01	01	03	03
.14*	$.10^{\dagger}$	$.09^{\dagger}$.11*	08	11	40***	15*	.26**	.27**	11	11	.10	.09	.15**	.16**
	28***		15*												
upport	.06		.09												
				45***		13 [†]		.36**		19*		20*		.11	
					36**		33**		.47***		38**		18		.08
.04	.10**	.08*	.12**	.20**	.12*	.23**	.15**	.21**	.21**	.11*	.17**	.12*	$.10^{\dagger}$.15*	.14*
	Ne; at .05 04 05 .14*	Negative affect .05 .01 04 .05 0508 .14* .10 [†] 28**** upport .06	Negative affect St .05 .01 .02 04 .05 13* 05 08 08 .14* .10^{\dagger} .09^{\dagger} 28**** .06 .04 .10** .08*	Negative Stress .05 .01 .02 .02 04 .05 13^* 08 05 08 08 10 .14* .10 [†] .09 [†] .11* 28**** 15^* .09 .04 .10** .08* .12**	Negative Relation affect Stress satisfa .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 04 .05 13^* 08 .07 05 08 08 10 .12 .14* .10 [†] .09 [†] .11* 08 28*** 15* .09 45**** .04 .10** .08* .12** .20**	Negative Relationship affect Stress satisfaction .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 .14* .10† .09† .11* 08 11 28*** 15* .09 45*** 36** .04 .10** .08* .12* .20** .12*	Negative Relationship Relation affect Stress satisfaction commi .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$ 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$ 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 .14* .10^{\dagger} .09^{\dagger} .11* 08 11 40**** 28*** 15* .09	Negative Relationship Relationship Relationship affect Stress satisfaction commitment .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .14* .10 [†] .09 [†] .11* 08 11 40**** 15* 28*** 15* 15* 45**** 13 [†] .06 .09 45**** 13 [†] 33** .04 .10** .08* .12** .20** .12* .23** .15**	Negative Relationship Relationship Relationship Disensation affect Stress satisfaction commitment interview .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 .01 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20 [†] .14* .10 [†] .09 [†] .11* 08 11 40*** 15* .26** 28*** 15* .09 45*** 13 [†] .36** .04 .10** .08* .12** .20** .12* .23** .15*** .21**	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 04 .05 13^{*} 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 .01 .06 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20 [†] .20 [†] .14 [*] .10 [†] .09 [†] .11 [*] 08 11 40^{***} 15^{*} .26^{**} .27^{**} 28^{***} 15^{*} 13^{\dagger} 36^{**} 13^{\dagger} $.36^{**}$ 45^{***} 13^{\dagger} 36^{**} 47^{***} 33^{**} 47^{***} .04 $.10^{**}$ $.08^{*}$ $.12^{*}$ $.23^{**}$ $.15^{**}$ $.21^{**}$ $.21^{**}$	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement Tage affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention performance .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 .03 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 .15^{\dagger} .12 .01 .06 .10 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20^{\dagger} .20^{\dagger} .11 .14* .10^{\dagger} .09^{\dagger} .11* 08 11 40**** 15* .26** .27** 11 .28*** 15* .26** .27** 11* 45*** 33** .47*** .04 .10** .08* .12* .23** .15*** .21** .11*	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement Task affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention performance .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 .03 .02 04 .05 13* 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 .01 .06 .10 .06 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20 [†] .21 [†] .11 .11 .14* .10 [†] .09 [†] .11* 08 11 40 ^{***} 15* .26 ^{**} .27 ^{**} 11 11 .28 ^{****} 15* 13 [†] 36 ^{***} 19 [*] 36 ^{***} 19 [*] 90 06 .09 12* .23 ^{**} .15 ^{**} .21 ^{**} .11* .17 ^{**}	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement Task affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention performance OO .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 .03 .02 .06^{\dagger} 04 .05 13^{*} 08 .07 .04 .15^{\dagger} .12 .01 .06 .10 .06 .13 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20^{\dagger} .11 .11 01 .14* .10^{\dagger} .09^{\dagger} .11* 08 11 40*** 15* .26** .27** 11 11 .10 28**** 15*	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement Task affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention performance OCB .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 .03 .02 $.06^{\dagger}$ $.06^{\dagger}$ 04 .05 13^{*} 08 .07 .04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 .01 .06 .10 .06 .13 .11 05 08 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20 [†] .11 .11 01 .01 $.14^{*}$ $.10^{\dagger}$ $.09^{\dagger}$.11^{*} 08 11 40^{***} 15^{*} $.26^{**}$ $.27^{**}$ 11 $.10^{\circ}$ $.09^{\circ}$ 28^{***} 15^{*} 13^{\dagger} $.36^{**}$ 19^{*} 20^{*} 45^{***} 13^{*} 36^{**} 33^{**} $.47^{*$	Negative Relationship Relationship Disengagement Task affect Stress satisfaction commitment intention performance OCB With .05 .01 .02 .02 .01 .01 $.05^{\dagger}$.05 06 05 .03 .02 $.06^{\dagger}$ $.06^{\dagger}$ 05^{\ast} 04 .05 13^{\ast} .08 $.07$.04 $.15^{\dagger}$.12 .01 .06 .10 .06 .13 .11 $.14^{\ast}$ 05 08 10 .12 .14 03 02 .20 [†] .20 [†] .11 .11 01 03 $.14^{\ast}$.10 [†] .09 [†] .11 [*] 08 11 $40^{\ast \ast \ast}$ 15^{\ast} $.26^{\ast \ast}$ $.27^{\ast \ast}$ 11 $.11$ $.10^{\circ}$ $.09^{\circ}$ $.11^{\circ}$ $14^{\ast }$ $.06^{\circ}$ $.09^{\circ}$ $36^{\ast \ast }$ $33^{\ast \ast }$ $.21^{\circ \ast }$ $.21^{\ast \ast }$

Table 15: Relationshi	ps between	WAR, Negativ	e Affect, Stress,	and Outcome	2S
	D 1 (1	D 1 (' 1 '	D' (TT 1	_

 $^{\dagger}p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.$

				Relati	onship	Relati	onship	Diseng	agement	Ta	ask				
Negative affect		Stress		satisfaction		commitment		intention		performance		OCB		Withdrawal	
.02	.02	.02	$.02^{\dagger}$.01	.00	.04	.04	04	03	.03	.02	.07	$.07^{*}$	04	04
02	.06	12*	08	.06	.03	$.14^{\dagger}$.11	.04	.09	.09	.05	$.14^{\dagger}$.12	.15*	.16*
05	06	08	09	.11	.11	03	03	.21	$.22^{\dagger}$.09	.08	03	03	01	01
.27***	.23***	.10*	$.10^{\dagger}$	15 [†]	20*	12	16*	.23*	.26**	22**	23***	.00	02	.20**	.21***
	29***		15*												
pport	10		.02												
				42***		39***		.36**		16 [†]		18 [†]		.09	
					36**		34**		.49***		37***		17		.09
.11**	.17***	$.08^{*}$.11**	.22**	.15*	.23**	.21**	.20**	.23**	.16*	$.09^{\dagger}$.11 [†]	.17**	.18**	.11**
	Negativ .02 02 05 .27*** pport	.02 .02 .02 .02 .02 .06 .05 06 .27*** .23*** 29*** pport 10	Negative affect St $.02$ $.02$ $.02$ 02 $.06$ 12^* 05 06 08 $.27^{***}$ $.23^{***}$ $.10^*$ 29^{***} $.10^*$ $.11^{**}$ $.17^{***}$ $.08^*$	Negative affect Stress $.02$ $.02$ $.02^{\dagger}$ 02 $.06$ 12^{*} 08 05 06 08 09 $.27^{***}$ $.23^{***}$ $.10^{*}$ $.10^{\dagger}$ 29^{***} 15^{*} 02 pport 10 $.02$	Negative affect Stress satisf .02 .02 .02 .02 [†] .01 02 .06 12^* 08 .06 05 06 08 09 .11 .27*** .23*** .10* .10 [†] 15 [†] pport 10 .02 .42***	Negative affectStressRelationship.02.02.02 † .01.0002.06 12^* 08.06.0305060809.11.11.27***.23***.10*.10† 15^{\dagger} 20^* 29^{***} 15^* 42^{***} 36^{**} .11**.17***.08*.11**.22**.15*	Relationship Relati Negative affect Stress satisfaction comm .02 .02 .02 [†] .01 .00 .04 02 .06 12^* 08 .06 .03 .14 [†] 05 06 08 09 .11 .11 03 .27*** .23*** .10 [*] .10 [†] 15 [†] 20 [*] 12 29*** 15 [*] 15 [*] 36 ^{***} 39 ^{***} .11** .17*** .08 [*] .11** .22 ^{**} .15 [*] .23 ^{***}	RelationshipRelationshipRelationshipNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitment.02.02.02.02 [†] .01.00.04.0402.06 12^* 08.06.03 $.14^{\dagger}$.1105060809.11.110303.27***.23***.10* $.10^{\dagger}$ 15^{\dagger} 20^* 12 16^* pport10.02 42^{***} 39^{***} 34^{**} .11** $.17^{***}$ $.08^*$ $.11^{**}$ $.22^{**}$ $.15^*$ $.23^{**}$ $.21^{**}$	RelationshipRelationshipDisengNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentinte.02.02.02.02 [†] .01.00.04.040402.06 12^* 08.06.03 $.14^{\dagger}$.11.0405060809.11.110303.21.27***.23***.10*.10 [†] 15^{\dagger} 20^* 12 16^* .23*29*** 15^* 42^{***} 39^{***} $.36^{**}$ 42^{***} 39^{***} $.36^{**}$ $.36^{**}$ $.11^{**}$ $.17^{***}$.08* $.11^{**}$ $.22^{**}$ $.15^*$ $.23^{**}$ $.21^{**}$	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintention.02.02.02 † .01.00.04.04040302.06 12^* 08.06.03.14 † .11.04.0905060809.11.110303.21.22 † .27***.23***.10*.10 † 15^{\dagger} 20^* 12 16^* .23*.26**29*** 15^* .02 39^{***} 36^{**} 11**.17***.08*.11**.22**.15*.23**.21**.20**.23**	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTakeNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformance.02.02.02 [†] .01.00.04.040403.0302.06 12^* 08.06.03 $.14^{\dagger}$.11.04.09.0905060809.11.110303.21.22 [†] .09.27***.23***.10*.10 [†] 15^{\dagger} 20^* 12 16^* .23*.26** 22^{**} 29^{***} 15^* 39^{***} 36^{**} 34^{**} $.49^{***}$ 16^{\dagger} .11**.17***.08*.11**.22**.15*.23**.21**.20**.23**.16*	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformance.02.02.02.02 [†] .01.00.04.040403.03.0202.06 12^* 08.06.03 $.14^+$.11.04.09.09.0505060809.11.110303.21.22 [†] .09.08.27***.23***.10*.10 [†] 15^+ 20^* 12^* 16^* .23*.26** 22^{**} 23^{**} 29^{***} 15^* 36^{**} 34^{**} $.49^{***}$ 16^+ $.36^{**}$ 16^+ .11**.17***.08*.11**.22**.15*.23**.21**.20**.23**.16*.09 [†]	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformanceO.02.02.02.02 ⁺ .01.00.04.040403.03.02.0702.06 12^* 08.06.03 $.14^+$.11.04.09.09.05 $.14^+$ 05060809.11.110303.21.22 ⁺ .09.0803.27***.23***.10*.10 ⁺ 15^+ 20^* 12^* 16^+ .23*.26** 22^{**} 23^{**} .00 29^{***} 15^* 36^{**} 34^{**} $.49^{***}$ 16^+ 18^+ pport 10 .02 36^{**} 20^{**} $.23^{**}$ $.16^*$ $.09^+$ $.11^+$	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformanceOCB $.02$ $.02$ $.02$ $.02^{\dagger}$ $.01$ $.00$ $.04$ $.04$ 04 03 $.03$ $.02$ $.07$ $.07^{*}$ 02 $.06$ 12^{*} 08 $.06$ $.03$ $.14^{\dagger}$ $.11$ $.04$ $.09$ $.09$ $.05$ $.14^{\dagger}$ $.12$ 05 06 08 09 $.11$ $.11$ 03 03 $.21$ $.22^{\dagger}$ $.09$ $.08$ 03 03 $.27^{***}$ $.23^{***}$ $.10^{*}$ $.10^{\dagger}$ 15^{\dagger} 20^{*} 16^{*} $.23^{*}$ $.26^{**}$ 22^{**} 23^{**} $.00$ 02 29^{***} 15^{*} 36^{**} 34^{**} $.36^{**}$ 16^{\dagger} 18^{\dagger} pport 10 $.02$ 42^{***} 39^{***} $.36^{**}$ 16^{\dagger} $.09^{\dagger}$ $.11^{\dagger}$ $.11^{**}$ $.17^{***}$ $.08^{*}$ $.11^{*}$ $.22^{**}$ $.15^{*}$ $.23^{**}$ $.21^{**}$ $.23^{**}$ $.16^{*}$ $.09^{\dagger}$ $.11^{\dagger}$	RelationshipRelationshipDisengagementTaskNegative affectStresssatisfactioncommitmentintentionperformanceOCBWith.02.02.02.02 [†] .01.00.04.040403.03.02.07.07*0402.06 12^* 08.06.03.14 [†] .11.04.09.09.05.14 [†] .12.15*05060809.11.110303.21.22 [†] .09.08030301.27***.23***.10*.10 [†] 15 [†] 20*1216*.23*.26**22**23**.0002.20**29***10.0236**39***.36**16 [†] 18 [†] .0911 [†] .17**.18*.11**.17***.08*.11**.22**.15*.23**.21**.20**.23**.16*.09 [†] .11 [†] .17**.18**

Table 16: Relationships between WLB, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
--

 $^{\dagger}p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.$

					Relation	onship	Relation	onship	Disenga	agement	Т	ask				
	Negative affect		Stress		satisfaction		commitment		intention		performance		OCB		Withdrawa	
Controls																
LMX tenure	.01	.01	.02	.02	.00	.00	.04	.04	05	04	.02	.02	$.06^{\dagger}$	$.06^{\dagger}$	04^{\dagger}	04^{\dagger}
Secure	03	.04	12*	08	.06	.02	$.14^{\dagger}$.10	.05	.11	.08	.04	$.15^{\dagger}$.13	.16*	.17**
Dismissing	06	07	08	09	.14	.14	01	.00	.18	.19	.12	.11	02	01	04	04
Independent variable																
OC	.42***	.38***	.13*	.13 [†]	.03	12	.03	10	.13	.26*	06	14	$.18^{\dagger}$.12	.14	.18*
Moderator																
Coworker support		26***		16*												
OC X Coworker supp	port	12		.05												
Mediator																
Negative affect					46***		43***		.39**		20*		21 [*]		.11	
Stress						38**		36**		.53***		40***		16		.12
R^2	.14**	.19***	.08*	.11**	.19**	.12 [†]	.21**	.13*	.15*	.19**	$.10^{\dagger}$.18*	.12*	$.10^{\dagger}$.12 [†]	.12 [†]
Note $N = 152$																

Table 17: Relationships between WLB, Negative Affect, Stress, and Outcomes
--

[†]p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .001.

	Relationship satisfaction			onship Relationship Disengagement														
				commitment				intention			Task performance			OCB			Withdrawal	
-		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%		95%	95%
	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H	Est.	CI L	CI H
Negative																		
affect																		
CBC	077	164	023	071	146	024	.064	.017	.145	025	074	.000	027	077	001	.017	008	.061
WLD	082	162	034	073	139	033	.061	.014	.138	047	114	011	039	095	007	.016	014	.060
WQE	069	177	.003	063	161	.002	.060	002	.159	031	095	.000	029	096	.001	.020	003	.071
WAR	052	135	.007	046	118	.006	.042	003	.115	022	074	.002	023	075	.002	.013	004	.054
WLB	111	217	047	102	192	044	.092	.032	.195	041	108	004	047	120	007	.024	014	.077
OC	186	352	091	170	327	085	.154	.061	.318	080	186	021	085	185	030	.045	009	.132
Stress																		
CBC	046	114	006	045	107	008	.067	.023	.138	045	099	013	017	065	.016	.020	034	.033
WLD	023	070	.001	022	064	.001	.032	003	.074	026	066	.002	011	044	.001	.006	004	.032
WQE	.011	025	.064	.010	024	.059	016	085	.040	.012	030	.064	.004	008	.034	003	031	.008
WAR	021	070	.009	019	065	.008	.027	014	.080	022	065	.012	010	043	.004	.005	004	.030
WLB	030	081	002	028	078	002	.041	.002	.105	031	081	001	014	051	.001	.007	006	.035
OC	038	111	.000	036	104	.001	.053	004	.133	040	109	.005	016	064	.002	.012	004	.053

 Table 18: Indirect Effects of Member LMX Tensions on Outcomes via Negative Affect and Stress

Notes: N = 103. Bootstrap = 10,000. Est. = Effect size estimate.

Study 2 Discussion

Although both leader and member tensions can lead to negative affect and stress, they showed greater influence directly and indirectly on member relationship attitudes and behaviors relative to leader outcomes. For example, the indirect effects of negative affect or stress on leader outcomes through leader LMX tensions were mostly unsupported, whereas some indirect effects were supported in member data. Additionally, as shown in Table 7-9, most of the direct links of leader tensions on leader outcomes were not significant, while the direct relationships between member tensions and member outcomes were significant.

Such difference might result from different tensions members and leaders in high-quality LMX experienced. For example, although DEP, one leader LMX tension, adds extra work demands on leaders, it indirectly recognizes the leader's competence to guide the member. Member's over-dependence also grants the more powerful position the leader holds in the leadermember relationship, as a person's dependence is reversely related to their power (Emerson, 1972; Tepper, Carr, Breaux, Geider, Hu, & Hua, 2009). Also because they have more relational power, leaders are more confident and secure with regard to the relationship, and more controllable over important relationship decisions (Farrell, Simpson, & Rothman, 2015; Overall, Hammond, McNulty, & Finkel, 2016; Vanderdrift, Agnew, Harvey, & Warren, 2013). Accordingly, when faced with relationship challenges, they react more positively (Berman & Frazier, 2005; Kuehn, Chen, & Gordon, 2015; Overall et al., 2016). Another reason behind this could the leaders' greater access to more resources in the workplace that help them better address the negative affect and stress caused by LMX tensions.

The results also showed that neither leader nor member tensions affected work withdrawal directly or indirectly. This may be because work withdrawal behaviors reflect the underlying negative attitudes toward a group or an organization (Hulin, 1991). Reduced task performance and OCB can be a result of insufficient resources in dealing with exceeding demands. Undesirable as they are, they do not necessarily cause detriment to an organization. Yet, withdrawal behaviors are harmful counter-productive behaviors (Boswell & Olson-Buchanan, 2004; Hanisch & Hulin, 1990). For high-quality LMX partners, despite of the tensions, they may not be so angry to blame the group or the organization and act adversely to harm group or organizational performance.

I did not find support for the moderating effect of coworker support in both the leader and member data. This may be because of small sample sizes of both leader and member data constrain the power to detect the moderating effect. . However, it may also be because the benefits of coworker support cannot reduce the negative impact of LMX tensions. That is, the resources gained from coworkers may insufficiently compensate for the resources depleted by LMX tensions (Hobfoll, Freedy, Lane, & Geller, 1990; Halbesleben, Jonathon, Neveu, Paustian-Underdalh, & Westman, 2014), as coworker support cannot meet the resource demands high-quality LMX partners have when they feel LMX tensions.

Due to sample size, the results presented so far were based on models with one type of tension as the main independent factor. However, it is more desirable to test a model with all independent variables, mediators, and outcome variables included. Figure 2-3 showed the results of path analyses with all variables included for leader tensions and member tensions. The model fit for leader model was $\chi^2 = 42.11$ (p = .47), df = 42, CFI = 1.00, RMSEA = .00, SRMR = .06. The model fit for member model was $\chi^2 = 93.03$ (p < .01), df = 60, CFI = .93, RMSEA = .05, SRMR = .04.

One interesting finding in the SEM model results was that coworker support moderated the associations between WLD and negative affect (b = .12, p < .05) and WLB and negative affect (b = -.18, p < .05), which differs from results based on models with one tension as the main independent factor, wherein no support was found for the moderating effect of coworker support. Also interesting is the pattern of the moderating effect. For the link between WLD and negative affect, the relationship was enhanced with high coworker support, while it would was attenuated with low coworker. This conflicts with the prediction that high coworker support should weaken this association. For the relationship between WLB and negative affect however, the pattern of coworker support's moderating effect was as expected, such that the link between WLB and negative affect was weaker when coworker support was high. Again, these results should be interpreted with caution. That is, the reliability of the results is doubtful, as I tested this complicated model with a relatively small sample.



Figure 2: Results of Path Analysis for the Consequences of Leader LMX Tensions

Notes: Numbers shown are unstandardized path estimates; dashed lines indicate non-significant relationships (p > .05). Control variables are LMX tenure, secure, dismissing.



Figure 3: Results of Path Analysis for the Consequences of Leader LMX Tensions

Notes: Numbers shown are unstandardized path estimates; grey dashed lines indicate non-significant relationships (p > .05); dot dashed lines indicate marginally significant relationships (p < .10). Blue solid lines indicate significant relationships (p < .05). Control variables are LMX tenure, secure, dismissing

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Theoretical Implications

Recent years have seen an increasing use of "dialectical approach" to study work phenomena. Scholars have spent more efforts investigating the dark or light side of phenomena that have been prevailingly considered as positive or negative. For instance, the negative aspects of OCB (e.g., Bolino, Turnley, & Niehoff, 2004; Spector, 2013) and potential beneficial side of abusive behavior (e.g., Oh & Farh, 2017) have been discussed and tested. There is also an increase in "too much of a good thing" work, in which scholars explore the unwanted outcomes of a desirable situation when it overwhelms the individual (e.g., Antonakis, House, & Simonton, 2017; Harris & Kacmar, 2006; Langfred, 2004). Such exploration provides a more balanced and thorough view of the phenomena of interest.

Following this trend, this dissertation draws on Relational Dialectics Theory and proposes that high-quality LMX can bring tensional and constraining experiences to LMX partners. Applying a mixed-method approach, this dissertation finds that high-quality leaders can feel three types of tensions: DIR, FAV, and DEP, and high-quality members can experience CBC, WLB, WAR, WLD, WQE, and OC. Such tensions can lead to negative affect and stress, through which some members' relationship attitude and work behaviors are negatively impacted. These findings illustrate the potential dark side of high-quality LMX and provides a more comprehensive picture of leader-member relationship. They also suggest that LMX, especially high-quality LMX, is far more complex than is generally considered. A complete understanding of LMX requires a broader scholarly exploration on factors that might make high-quality LMX a stressor for LMX partners. Moreover, as LMX serves as a form of leadership based on relationship, the findings add evidence on the paradox or contradictions leaders confront in people management (Smith & Lewis, 2011; Zhang, Waldman, Han, & Li, 2015).

Besides, as both leader and member outcomes are considered in the model, the dissertation answers the call for more research on "what about leaders?" in LMX (Liden et al., 1997; Wilson et al., 2010). Although pointed out by Liden, Sparrowe and Wayne (1997) that "more research is needed on outcomes of LMX for leaders" (p. 73), till today LMX research mainly examines member outcomes (Wilson et al., 2010). Our understanding of the impact of LMX on leaders is very limited. Being one party of the dyadic relationship, leaders likely face tensions in high-quality LMX just like members. For example, because leaders have access to more organizational resources (Anderson et al., 2012; Dabos & Rousseau, 2004), members may rely on leaders for special favors. Providing such favors to close members will violate management rules while rejecting such requests fails members' expectations, creating tensions in the relationship. I do find in high-quality LMX leaders experience the tension between favoritism and impartiality. They need to address the tension between directness and indirectness in communicating negative feedback with close subordinates and the tension between dependence and autonomy in managing close members. These tensions add challenges in leadership, as they give rise to stress and negative affect among leaders. Studying relational tensions that leaders encounter helps to address the void of leader outcomes in LMX research.

In addition, the exploration of dialectical tensions in high-quality LMX provides theoretical insights on LMX change, especially LMX decline. Extant LMX literature argues that once developed, high-quality LMX remains stable and gradually improves over time (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995; Nahrgang et al., 2009). However, all interpersonal relationships are inherently
dialectical (Baxter, 2004, 2015). Relationship partners are constantly adjusting to the presence of oppositional, relational forces (Montgomery, 1993). These adjustments transform the relationship from one moment to the next, resulting in continuous relational change (Cupach, 1992; Montgomery, 1993; Montgomery & Baxter, 1998; Sias, 2009). The current study presents that LMX tensions strain LMX partners, which reduces relationship satisfaction, relationship commitment and fosters relationship disengagement intentions. If relational tensions are not managed properly, intention to disengage from the relationship can result in actual relationship disengagement behaviors (Baxter & Erbert, 1999; Sias, 2009). Thus, although the decline process of LMX is not the focus of the present dissertation, it provides an initial indication that LMX may be subject to change or decline even after it reaches a high-quality level.

Practical Implications

LMX tensions in high-quality LMX relationships undoubtedly require LMX partners to effectively manage the leader-member relationship in order to reap the benefits of high-quality LMX and avoid the potential negative impacts. Because leaders acquire more resources, are more powerful, and less subject to LMX tensions in high-quality LMX (Coyle-Shapiro et al., 2004), they need to realize the existence of tensions high-quality LMX members might experience, and be more cautious about whether their demands, expectations, and offerings – even out of good intention – create pressure for members. They need to know that members, being more dependent in the LMX relationship, tend to refrain from saying no to leaders' requests even though they honestly want to. Thus, one thing leaders can do is encourage open discussions with their high-quality LMX members about their true feelings and adjust their demands, expectations, and offerings to fit members' capabilities and present situations.

Members also need to be aware of the inherent tensions in high-quality LMX relationships and try to manage them in the early stages of LMX development, because once the dyadic leader-member interactions become routinized, it is harder to make changes (Graen & Scandura, 1987). In early stages of LMX development, members can attentively set relationship boundaries with leaders. For example, a member can express their discomfort when his/her leader tries to mingle with their personal life the first time. Through this process, the leader can learn about the relationship boundary and adjust expectations and interaction behaviors accordingly.

Limitations and Future Research

Future research can benefit from considering the limitations of the current studies. First, data in all studies were collected from Chinese samples. Our results may largely reflect LMX tensions in Chinese context. For high-quality leader-member dyads in western culture, the tensions and their consequences might be different because of cultural background. For example, defined as "a style that combines strong discipline and authority with fatherly benevolence" (Farh & Cheng, 2000, p.91), paternalistic leadership is still effective and prevalent in Chinese business culture (Farh, Cheng, Chou, & Chu, 2004; Pellegrini & Scandura 2008). Authoritarianism describes leader behaviors that assert authority and control, whereas benevolence pertains to an individualized concern for subordinates' personal well-being. The benevolence in paternalistic leadership manifests in leaders' involvement in members' personal life, such as matchmaking for subordinates, while such involvement is perceived as intrusive in western culture (Pellegrini & Scandura 2008). Thus, WLB, a tension high-quality LMX member experiences, may not be a concern for high-quality LMX members in western culture, as leaders

are not expected to "manage" subordinates' personal life in western context. Future research should explore the tensions high-quality LMX partners face in different cultures and examine whether the tensions identified in current studies stand in other cultural contexts. It will also be worthwhile to compare such tensions in different cultures in cross-cultural studies.

Second, although this research shows the potential troublesome side of high-quality LMX, it does not mean all high-quality LMX partners will experience these LMX tensions. That is, it may not necessarily always be the case that all leaders and members in high-quality LMX relationships will have such tension-filled experiences. There are high-quality LMX partners who manage LMX well and avoid LMX tensions and their negative influences. Indeed, there were participants in the pilot study who mentioned leaders with whom they had a perfect relationship during their LMX tenure. Some factors may play a role in whether high-quality LMX partners experience LMX tensions and suffer their influences. For example, as a key component of emotional intelligence, empathy refers to the ability to recognize and understand the feelings and emotions of others (Goleman, 1995). Leaders with high empathy are more likely to anticipate and understand the tensional feelings high-quality members might have for a certain demand or expectation. Hence, they will be more considerate in leader-member interactions and more cautious about their extra demands or offerings, which can reduce the possibility of LMX tensions. Further studies should explore the factors that affect the existence and intensity of LMX tensions in high-quality LMX to offer insights on high-quality LMX management and maintenance.

Third, this research focuses on tensional experiences in high-quality LMX. To ensure that the relational tensions found were unique to high-quality LMX partners, I asked participants' tensional, stressful, and constraining experiences in low-quality LMX. It turns out that when

leaders and members talked about their low-quality LMX partners, they tended to attribute the unsatisfactory LMX to the LMX partner's leadership skills, work capabilities, personal traits, and even ethics, rather than tensions or stress in their dyadic relationships. Research in the future can explore the tensions or stress that low-quality LMX partners encounter and their impacts on leaders and members.

Fourth, the sample sizes of leader and member samples constrain the power to do pathanalyses with all types of tensions included in the model. Instead, I conducted path-analyses for each LMX tension. However, with 136 member observations and 103 leader observations, the power of model testing still suffers. Besides, in study 1 and study 2, members and leaders did not come from matched high-quality LMX dyads. Participants were asked to think about the member/leader they have good relationship currently or have had in the recent past. Despite prompting respondents to consider a relationship partner with whom they had a high-quality LMX, measured LMX scores were lower than expected (average across all measurements = 4.13, ranging from 3.97 to 4.34). Future research can make a stronger case by collecting data from high-quality leader-member dyads. Ideally, the member and the leader should agree on their high-quality LMX. For example, scholars can ask leaders to identify a member they have high LMX and invite the member to participate in the study.

Fifth, I tested relational attitudes and work behaviors as outcomes of LMX tensions in Study 2. However, relative to work behaviors, more direct reactions to LMX tensions should be relational behaviors. When confronted with relational tensions, relationship partners are naturally driven to maintain important relationships like LMX at desired levels (Sias, et al., 2012). For instance, when a high-quality LMX member feels they are assigned too much work, they will likely discuss this issue with the leader as a way to keep a manageable workload and prevent over workload from impairing LMX or work performance. Future studies should investigate the strategies LMX partners use to cope with LMX tensions and maintain desirable LMX.

Sixth, the relational tensions I found in this study differ from the five dialectal tensions identified in previous work leader-member friendship (e.g., Zorn, 1995), lending support for the notion that high-quality LMX is distinct from leader-member friendship. Yet it is highly possible that a leader and a member develop a close friendship because workplace provides a natural incubator for personal relationships that goes beyond professional boundary (Sias & Gallagher, 2009). When high-quality work leader-member relationship becomes confounded with liking-based friendship, the intensity of LMX tensions might be greater. Future research should explore leader-member friendship and its effects on LMX tensions and their consequences.

Seventh, this research explored the dark side of high-quality LMX by specifically focusing on tensional experiences high-quality LMX partners confront. LMX literature suggests other potential downsides of high-quality LMX. For example, high-quality LMX can impair the member's social network. In previous research on LMX and social network, being close to supervisors is viewed as a kind of social capital, leading to member social network centrality because peer employees want to be associated with them. This argument assumes that: a) being in high LMX relationship means access to more resources; b) coworkers always intend to build up connections with high-quality-LMX workers; c) those high-quality-LMX members are positively responsive to coworkers' networking behavior (e.g., Andrews & Kacmar, 2001; Bowler & Brass, 2006; Kilduff & Krackhardt, 1994; Morrison, 2002; Sparrowe & Liden, 1997, 2005). Two recent studies challenged the last two assumptions and argued that coworkers might cognitively avoid seeking advice from high-LMX members (Erdogan et al., 2015) and some members were not motivated to form connections as they could rely on the leader's social capital (Anderson & Sun, 2015). Moreover, because high-quality LMX forms members' social identity (Loi, Chan, & Lam, 2014), it can potentially impose constraints on member social network. The "enemies" of the leader will automatically assume the member will take the leader's side and treat the member with hostility rather friendless. It will be very interesting to examine the conditions under which high-quality LMX constrains members' social network forming.

CONCLUSION

High-quality LMX provides benefits to both leaders and members without doubt, yet it has a potentially dark side that high-quality LMX partners can experience relational tensions. These tensions can lead to higher stress and negative affect and negatively impact LMX partners' relationship attitudes and work behaviors. Research studying the negative side of high-quality LMX as the primary focus is critical to complete our understanding of LMX and broaden our knowledge of workplace relationships.

REFERENCES

- Afifi, T. D. (2003). 'Feeling caught' in stepfamilies: Managing boundary turbulence through appropriate communication privacy rules. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 20(6), 729-755.
- Altman, I., Vinsel, A., & Brown, B. B. (1981). Dialectic conceptions in social psychology: An application to social penetration and privacy regulation. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 14, 107-160.
- Anand, S., Vidyarthi, P. R., & Park, H. S. LMX differentiation: understanding relational leadership at individual and group levels. In Bauer & Erdogan (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Leader-Member Exchange*, 263-292. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Anderson, M. H., & Sun, P. Y. (2015). The downside of transformational leadership when encouraging followers to network. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *26*(5), 790-801.
- Andrews, M. C., & Kacmar, K. M. (2001). Discriminating among organizational politics, justice, and support. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *22*(4), 347-366.
- Antonakis, J., House, R. J., & Simonton, D. K. (2017). Can super smart leaders suffer from too much of a good thing? The curvilinear effect of intelligence on perceived leadership behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(7), 1003-1021.
- Atinc, G., Darrat, M., Fuller, B., & Parker, B. W. (2010). Perceptions of organizational politics: A meta-analysis of theoretical antecedents. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 494-513.
- Atwater, L., & Carmeli, A. (2009). Leader–member exchange, feelings of energy, and involvement in creative work. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *20*(3), 264-275.

- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The job demands-resources model: State of the art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *22*(3), 309-328.
- Bakker, A., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. (2003). Dual processes at work in a call center: An application of the job demands–resources model. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 12(4), 393-417.
- Ballinger, G. A., Lehman, D. W., & Schoorman, F. D. (2010). Leader–member exchange and turnover before and after succession events. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 113(1), 25-36.
- Bartholomew, K., & Horowitz, L. M. (1991). Attachment styles among young adults: a test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *61*(2), 226-224.
- Basu, R., & Green, S. G. (1995). Subordinate Performance, Leader-Subordinate Compatibility, and Exchange Quality in Leader-Member Dyads: A Field Study. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 25(1), 77-92.
- Bauer, T. N., & Green, S. G. (1996). Development of leader-member exchange: A longitudinal test. Academy of Management Journal, 39(6), 1538-1567.
- Baxter, L. A. (1988). A dialectical perspective on communication strategies in relationship development. In S. Duck (Ed.), *Handbook of Personal Relationships*, 257-274. London: Wiley.
- Baxter, L. A. (1990). Dialectical contradictions in relationship development. *Journal of Social* and Personal Relationships, 7(1), 69-88.
- Baxter, L. A. (2004). A tale of two voices: Relational dialectics theory. *Journal of Family Communication*, 4(3-4), 181-192.

- Baxter, L. A. (2006). Relational dialectics theory. In D. O. Braithwaite & L. A. Baxter (Eds.), *Family Communication Theories*, 130-145. Sage.
- Baxter, L. A. (2015). Relational dialectics. In W. Donsbach (Ed.), *The Concise Encyclopedia of Communication*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Baxter, L. A., & Erbert, L. A. (1999). Perceptions of dialectical contradictions in turning points of development in heterosexual romantic relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 16(5), 547-569.
- Baxter, L. A., & Montgomery, B. M. (1998). A guide to dialectical approaches to studying personal relationships. *Dialectical Approaches to Studying Personal Relationships*, 1-15.
 New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associations.
- Baxter, L. A., & Simon, E. P. (1993). Relationship maintenance strategies and dialectical contradictions in personal relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 10(2), 225-242.
- Baxter, L. A., Mazanec, M., Nicholson, J., Pittman, G., Smith, K., & West, L. (1997). Everyday loyalties and betrayals in personal relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14, 655-678.
- Berger, C. R., & Bradac, J. J. (1982). *Language and social knowledge: Uncertainty in interpersonal relations*. London: E. Arnold.
- Berger, J., Rosenholtz, S. J., & Zelditch Jr, M. (1980). Status organizing processes. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 6(1), 479-508.
- Berman, E. M., West, J. P., & Richter Jr, M. N. (2002). Workplace relations: Friendship patterns and consequences (according to managers). *Public Administration Review*, 62(2), 217-230.

- Berman, M. I., & Frazier, P. A. (2005). Relationship power and betrayal experience as predictors of reactions to infidelity. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *31*(12), 1617-1627.
- Bernas, K. H., & Major, D. A. (2000). Contributors to stress resistance: Testing a model of women's work-family conflict. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24(2), 170-178.
- Berndt, T. J. (2002). Friendship quality and social development. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *11*(1), 7-10.
- Bernerth, J. B., Walker, H. J., & Harris, S. G. (2016). Rethinking the benefits and pitfalls of leader–member exchange: A reciprocity versus self-protection perspective. *Human Relations*, 69(3), 661-684.
- Blake, R. R., & Mouton, J. S. (1964). *The new managerial grid: strategic new insights into a* proven system for increasing organization productivity and individual effectiveness, plus a revealing examination of how your managerial style can affect your mental and physical health. Gulf Pub. Co.

Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. Transaction Publishers.

- Bochner, A. P. (1982). On the efficacy of openness in close relationships. In Burgoon, M. (Ed.). Communication Yearbook 5, 109-124. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books.
- Boies, K., & Howell, J. M. (2006). Leader–member exchange in teams: An examination of the interaction between relationship differentiation and mean LMX in explaining team-level outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17(3), 246-257.
- Bolino, M. C., Turnley, W. H., & Niehoff, B. P. (2004). The other side of the story:
 Reexamining prevailing assumptions about organizational citizenship behavior. *Human Resource Management Review*, 14(2), 229-246.

Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss, vol. II: Separation (Vol. 2). New York: Basic Books.

- Bowlby, J. (1977). The making and breaking of affectional bonds. I. Aetiology and psychopathology in the light of attachment theory. An expanded version of the Fiftieth Maudsley Lecture, delivered before the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 19 November 1976. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *130*(3), 201-210.
- Bowler, W. M., & Brass, D. J. (2006). Relational correlates of interpersonal citizenship behavior: a social network perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(1), 70-82.
- Bridge, K., & Baxter, L. A. (1992). Blended relationships: Friends as work associates. *Western Journal of Communication (includes Communication Reports)*, 56(3), 200-225.
- Brislin, R. W. (1986). Research instruments. *Field Methods in Cross-Cultural Research*, *8*, 137-164.
- Brown, P., & Levinson, S. C. (1987). *Politeness: Some universals in language usage* (Vol. 4). Cambridge university press.
- Bukowski, W. M., Hoza, B., & Boivin, M. (1994). Measuring friendship quality during pre-and early adolescence: The development and psychometric properties of the Friendship Qualities Scale. *Journal of social and Personal Relationships*, *11*(3), 471-484.
- Byrne, D., & Murnen, S. K. (1988). Maintaining loving relationships. In Sternberg, R.J. &Barnes, M. L (Eds), The 293-310. New Haven, CT, US: Yale University Press.
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory. Sage.
- Chen, G., Kirkman, B. L., Kanfer, R., Allen, D., & Rosen, B. (2007). A multilevel study of leadership, empowerment, and performance in teams. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(2), 331-346.
- Chen, T. C. C., Drzewiecka, J. A., & Sias, P. M. (2001). Dialectical tensions in Taiwanese international student friendships. *Communication Quarterly*, 49(1), 57-65.

- Chen, Z. X., Tsui, A. S., & Zhong, L. (2008). Reactions to psychological contract breach: A dual perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *29*(5), 527-548.
- Chen, Z., Lam, W., & Zhong, J. A. (2007). Leader-member exchange and member performance: a new look at individual-level negative feedback-seeking behavior and team-level empowerment climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 202-212.
- Colella, A., & Varma, A. (2001). The impact of subordinate disability on leader-member exchange relationships. *Academy of Management Journal*, *44*(2), 304-315.
- Cook, K. S., & Emerson, R. M. (1978). Power, equity and commitment in exchange networks. *American Sociological Review*, 721-739.
- Coyle-Shapiro, J. A. M., Kessler, I., & Purcell, J. (2004). Exploring organizationally directed citizenship behaviour: reciprocity or 'it's my job'? *Journal of Management Studies*, 41(1), 85-106.
- Cropanzano, R., Rupp, D. E., & Byrne, Z. S. (2003). The relationship of emotional exhaustion to work attitudes, job performance, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 160-169.
- Cupach, W. R. (1992). Dialectical processes in the disengagement of interpersonal relationships. In Orbuch, T. L. (Eds.). *Close Relationship Loss*, 128-141. NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Dabos, G. E., & Rousseau, D. M. (2004). Mutuality and reciprocity in the psychological contracts of employees and employers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *89*(1), 52-72.
- Dansereau, F., Graen, G., & Haga, W. J. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *13*(1), 46-78.

- Davidovitz, R., Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Izsak, R., & Popper, M. (2007). Leaders as attachment figures: Leaders' attachment orientations predict leadership-related mental representations and followers' performance and mental health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(4), 632-650.
- Davis, K. E., & Todd, M. J. (1985). Assessing friendship: Prototypes, paradigm cases and relationship description. In Duck, S. & Perlman, D. (Eds). Understanding Personal Relationships: An Interdisciplinary Approach, 17-38. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications.
- Day, D. V. (Ed.). (2014). *The Oxford handbook of leadership and organizations*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Day, D., & Miscenko, D. (2016). Leader-Member Exchange (LMX): Construct evolution, contributions, and future prospects for advancing leadership theory. In Bauer & Erdogan (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Leader-Member Exchange*, 9-28.
- DeGreeff, B. L., Burnett, A., & Cooley, D. (2010). Communicating and philosophizing about authenticity or inauthenticity in a fast-paced world. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 11(4), 395-408.
- Dienesch, R. M., & Liden, R. C. (1986). Leader-member exchange model of leadership: A critique and further development. *Academy of Management Review*, *11*(3), 618-634.
- Dulebohn, J. H., Bommer, W. H., Liden, R. C., Brouer, R. L., & Ferris, G. R. (2012). A metaanalysis of antecedents and consequences of leader-member exchange: Integrating the past with an eye toward the future. *Journal of Management*, *38*(6), 1715-1759.
- Duran, R. L., Kelly, L., & Rotaru, T. (2011). Mobile phones in romantic relationships and the dialectic of autonomy versus connection. *Communication Quarterly*, *59*(1), 19-36.

- Edmondson, A. C., & McManus, S. E. (2007). Methodological fit in management field research. *Academy of Management Review*, *32*(4), 1246-1264.
- Eidelson, R. J. (1980). Interpersonal satisfaction and level of involvement: A curvilinear relationship. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*(3), 460-470.
- Eisenberger, R., Karagonlar, G., Stinglhamber, F., Neves, P., Becker, T. E., Gonzalez-Morales,
 M. G., & Steiger-Mueller, M. (2010). Leader–member exchange and affective organizational commitment: The contribution of supervisor's organizational embodiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *95*(6), 1085-1103.
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, *50*(1), 25-32.
- Emerson, R. M. (1962). Power-dependence relations. American sociological review, 31-41.
- Emerson, R. M. (1972). Exchange theory, part II: Exchange relations and networks. *Sociological Theories in Progress*, *2*, 58-87.
- Epitropaki, O., & Martin, R. (1999). The impact of relational demography on the quality of leader-member exchanges and employees' work attitudes and well-being. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72(2), 237-240.
- Erdogan, B., & Bauer, T. N. (2010). Differentiated leader–member exchanges: The buffering role of justice climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *95*(6), 1104-1120.
- Erdogan, B., & Bauer, T. N. (2014). Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) Theory: The Relational Approach to. *The Oxford handbook of leadership and organizations*, 407-433. Oxford: Oxford Press.

- Erdogan, B., Bauer, T. N., & Walter, J. (2015). Deeds that help and words that hurt: Helping and gossip as moderators of the relationship between leader-member exchange and advice network centrality. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 185-214.
- Erdogan, B., Bauer, T. N., Truxillo, D. M., & Mansfield, L. R. (2012). Whistle while you work: A review of the life satisfaction literature. *Journal of Management*, *38*(4), 1038-1083.
- Erdogan, B., Liden, R. C., & Kraimer, M. L. (2006). Justice and leader-member exchange: The moderating role of organizational culture. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(2), 395-406.
- Eysenck, M. W., Derakshan, N., Santos, R., & Calvo, M. G. (2007). Anxiety and cognitive performance: attentional control theory. *Emotion*, 7(2), 336-353.
- Fairhurst, G. T., & Chandler, T. A. (1989). Social structure in leader-member interaction. *Communications Monographs*, *56*(3), 215-239.
- Fairhurst, G. T., Rogers, L. E., & Sarr, R. A. (1987). Manager-subordinate control patterns and judgments about the relationship. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 10(1), 395-475.
- Farh, J. L., & Cheng, B. S. (2000). A cultural analysis of paternalistic leadership in Chinese organizations. In *Management and Organizations in the Chinese Context* (pp. 84-127).
 Palgrave Macmillan, London.
- Farh, L. J., Cheng, B., Chou, L. F., & Chu, X. (2004). Authority and Benevolence: Employee's Responses to Paternalistic Leadership in China.
- Farrell, A. K., Simpson, J. A., & Rothman, A. J. (2015). The relationship power inventory: Development and validation. *Personal Relationships*, 22(3), 387-413.

- Felmlee, D. H. (1994). Who's on top? Power in romantic relationships. *Sex Roles*, *31*(5), 275-295.
- Ferris, G. R., Liden, R. C., Munyon, T. P., Summers, J. K., Basik, K. J., & Buckley, M. R. (2009). Relationships at work: Toward a multidimensional conceptualization of dyadic work relationships. *Journal of Management*, 35(6), 1379-1403.
- Fiedler, F. E. (1971). Validation and extension of the contingency model of leadership effectiveness: A review of empirical findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, *76*(2), 128-148.
- Fischer, P., Greitemeyer, T., & Frey, D. (2007). Ego depletion and positive illusions: Does the construction of positivity require regulatory resources? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 33(9), 1306-1321.
- Forgas, J. P., & George, J. M. (2001). Affective influences on judgments and behavior in organizations: An information processing perspective. *Organizational behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 86(1), 3-34.
- Fortune.com. (2011). Be the Boss, not a Friend. Retrieved at <u>http://fortune.com/2011/01/18/be-</u>the-boss-not-a-friend/
- Garone, E. (2016). Being close to your boss is as dangerous as being enemies. Retrieved at http://www.bbc.com/capital/story/20161121-being-close-to-the-boss-is-as-dangerous-as-being-enemies
- Gerstner, C. R., & Day, D. V. (1997). Meta-Analytic review of leader–member exchange theory: Correlates and construct issues. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(6), 827-844.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2017). *Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research*. Routledge.
- Goleman, D. (1997). Emotional Intelligence. Bantam Books.

- Goodwin, V. L., Bowler, W. M., & Whittington, J. L. (2009). A social network perspective on LMX relationships: Accounting for the instrumental value of leader and follower networks. *Journal of Management*, 35(4), 954-980.
- Gordon, A. M., & Chen, S. (2013). Does power help or hurt? The moderating role of self-other focus on power and perspective-taking in romantic relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 39(8), 1097-1110.
- Gouldner, A. W. (1960). The norm of reciprocity: A preliminary statement. *American* Sociological Review, 161-178.
- Graen, G. B., & Scandura, T. A. (1987). Toward a psychology of dyadic organizing. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 9, 175-208.
- Graen, G. B., & Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership: Development of leader-member exchange (LMX) theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multilevel multi-domain perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 219-247.
- Graen, G. B., Scandura, T. A., & Graen, M. R. (1986). A field experimental test of the moderating effects of growth need strength on productivity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 484-584.
- Greguras, G. J., & Ford, J. M. (2006). An examination of the multidimensionality of supervisor and subordinate perceptions of leader-member exchange. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 79(3), 433-465.
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, 39, 281-291.

- Hagemeyer, B., Schönbrodt, F. D., Neyer, F. J., Neberich, W., & Asendorpf, J. B. (2015). When
 "together" means "too close": Agency motives and relationship functioning in coresident and living-apart-together couples. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *109*(5), 813-835.
- Halbesleben, J. R. (2006). Sources of social support and burnout: a meta-analytic test of the conservation of resources model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(5), 1134-1145.
- Halbesleben, J. R. B., Neveu, J., Paustian-Underdahl, S. C., & Westman, M. (2014). Getting to the "COR": Understanding the role of resources in conservation of resources theory. *Journal of Management*, 40(5), 1334-1364.
- Hammer, L. B., Bauer, T. N., & Grandey, A. A. (2003). Work-family conflict and work-related withdrawal behaviors. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *17*(3), 419-436.
- Harris, K. J., & Kacmar, K. M. (2006). Too much of a good thing: The curvilinear effect of leader-member exchange on stress. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 146(1), 65-84.
- Harris, T. B., Li, N., & Kirkman, B. L. (2014). Leader–member exchange (LMX) in context:
 How LMX differentiation and LMX relational separation attenuate LMX's influence on
 OCB and turnover intention. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(2), 314-328.

Heider, F. (1958). The psychology of interpersonal relations. New York: Wiley

- Henderson, D. J., Liden, R. C., Glibkowski, B. C., & Chaudhry, A. (2009). LMX differentiation:
 A multilevel review and examination of its antecedents and outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(4), 517-534.
- Hinkin, T. R. (1998). A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. *Organizational Research Methods*, *1*(1), 104-121.

Hobfoll, S. E. (1988). The ecology of stress. Taylor & Francis.

- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, *44*(3), 513-524.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: advancing conservation of resources theory. *Applied Psychology*, *50*(3), 337-421.
- Hobfoll, S. E., Freedy, J., Lane, C., & Geller, P. (1990). Conservation of social resources: Social support resource theory. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 7(4), 465-478.
- Hofmann, D. A., Morgeson, F. P., & Gerras, S. J. (2003). Climate as a moderator of the relationship between leader-member exchange and content specific citizenship: safety climate as an exemplar. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 170-178.
- Hooper, D. T., & Martin, R. (2008). Beyond personal leader–member exchange (LMX) quality:
 The effects of perceived LMX variability on employee reactions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(1), 20-30.
- Humberd, B. K., & Rouse, E. D. (2016). Seeing you in me and me in you: Personal identification in the phases of mentoring relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, 41(3), 435-455.
- Ilies, R., Nahrgang, J. D., & Morgeson, F. P. (2007). Leader-member exchange and citizenship behaviors: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 269-277
- Inesi, M. E., Gruenfeld, D. H., & Galinsky, A. D. (2012). How power corrupts relationships: Cynical attributions for others' generous acts. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48(4), 795-803.
- Jackson, D. C., Malmstadt, J. R., Larson, C. L., & Davidson, R. J. (2000). Suppression and enhancement of emotional responses to pictures. *Psychophysiology*, 37, 515-522.

- Jameson, J. K. (2004). Negotiating autonomy and connection through politeness: A dialectical approach to organizational conflict management. *Western Journal of Communication (includes Communication Reports)*, 68(3), 257-277.
- Janssen, O., & Van Yperen, N. W. (2004). Employees' goal orientations, the quality of leadermember exchange, and the outcomes of job performance and job satisfaction. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(3), 368-384.
- Jehn, K. A., & Mannix, E. A. (2001). The dynamic nature of conflict: A longitudinal study of intragroup conflict and group performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(2), 238-251.
- Johns, M., Inzlicht, M., & Schmader, T. (2008). Stereotype threat and executive resource depletion: examining the influence of emotion regulation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 137(4), 691-705.
- Kark, R., Shamir, B., & Chen, G. (2003). The two faces of transformational leadership: empowerment and dependency. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(2), 246-255.
- Keller, R. T. 1984. The role of performance and absen- teeism in the prediction of turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 27, 176-183.
- Keltner, D., Gruenfeld, D. H., & Anderson, C. (2003). Power, approach, and inhibition. *Psychological Review*, *110*(2), 265-284.
- Kilduff, M., & Krackhardt, D. (1994). Bringing the individual back in: A structural analysis of the internal market for reputation in organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 37(1), 87-108.
- Kirkpatrick, L. A., & Davis, K. E. (1994). Attachment style, gender, and relationship stability: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *66*(3), 502-512.

- Kraimer, M. L., Seibert, S. E., Wayne, S. J., Liden, R. C., & Bravo, J. (2011). Antecedents and outcomes of organizational support for development: the critical role of career opportunities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96(3), 485-500.
- Kuehn, M. M., Chen, S., & Gordon, A. M. (2015). Having a thicker skin: Social power buffers the negative effects of social rejection. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 701-709.
- Kumashiro, M., Rusbult, C. E., & Finkel, E. J. (2008). Navigating personal and relational concerns: the quest for equilibrium. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(1), 94-110.
- Lam, W., Huang, X. U., & Snape, E. D. (2007). Feedback-seeking behavior and leader-member exchange: Do supervisor-attributed motives matter? *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(2), 348-363.
- Langfred, C. W. (2004). Too much of a good thing? Negative effects of high trust and individual autonomy in self-managing teams. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(3), 385-399.
- Lapierre, L. M., & Hackett, R. D. (2007). Trait conscientiousness, leader-member exchange, job satisfaction and organizational citizenship behavior: A test of an integrative model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 80(3), 539-554.
- Latta, R. E., & Goodman, L. A. (2011). Intervening in partner violence against women: A grounded theory exploration of informal network members' experiences. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 39(7), 973-1023.
- Law, K. S., Wong, C. S., Wang, D., & Wang, L. (2000). Effect of supervisor–subordinate guanxi on supervisory decisions in China: An empirical investigation. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11(4), 751-765.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Emotion and adaptation. Oxford University Press on Demand.

- Le Blanc, P. M., & González-Romá, V. (2012). A team level investigation of the relationship between Leader–Member Exchange (LMX) differentiation, and commitment and performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *23*(3), 534-544.
- Lee, F., & Tiedens, L. Z. (2001). 2. Is it lonely at the top? The independence and interdependence of power holders. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *23*, 43-91.
- Lee, R. T., & Ashforth, B. E. (1996). A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(2), 123-133.
- Leiter, M. P., & Maslach, C. (1988). The impact of interpersonal environment on burnout and organizational commitment. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *9*(4), 297-308.
- Lemay Jr, E. P., & Dudley, K. L. (2011). Caution: fragile! Regulating the interpersonal security of chronically insecure partners. *Journal of Personality and Social Ssychology*, 100(4), 681-702.
- Li, N., Liang, J., & Crant, J. M. (2010). The role of proactive personality in job satisfaction and organizational citizenship behavior: a relational perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(2), 395-404.
- Liao, H., Liu, D., & Loi, R. (2010). Looking at both sides of the social exchange coin: A social cognitive perspective on the joint effects of relationship quality and differentiation on creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 53(5), 1090-1109.
- Liden, R. C., & Graen, G. (1980). Generalizability of the vertical dyad linkage model of leadership. Academy of Management Journal, 23(3), 451-465.
- Liden, R. C., & Maslyn, J. M. (1998). Multidimensionality of leader-member exchange: An empirical assessment through scale development. *Journal of Management*, *24*(1), 43-72.

- Liden, R. C., Erdogan, B., Wayne, S. J., & Sparrowe, R. T. (2006). Leader-member exchange, differentiation, and task interdependence: implications for individual and group performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(6), 723-746.
- Liden, R. C., Sparrowe, R. T., & Wayne, S. J. (1997). Leader-member exchange theory: The past and potential for the future. *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*, 15, 47-120.
- Liden, R. C., Wayne, S. J., & Sparrowe, R. T. (2000). An examination of the mediating role of psychological empowerment on the relations between the job, interpersonal relationships, and work outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(3), 407-416.
- Little, L. M., Major, V. S., Hinojosa, A. S., & Nelson, D. L. (2015). Professional image maintenance: How women navigate pregnancy in the workplace. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(1), 8-37.
- Loi, R., Chan, K. W., & Lam, L. W. (2014). Leader–member exchange, organizational identification, and job satisfaction: A social identity perspective. *Journal of Occupational* and Organizational Psychology, 87(1), 42-61.
- Lunsford, L.G. (2013). Mentors as friends. In Hojjat, M. & Moyer, A. (Eds.). *The Psychology of Friendship*, 141-156. New York: Oxford.
- Mahsud, R., Yukl, G., & Prussia, G. (2010). Leader empathy, ethical leadership, and relationsoriented behaviors as antecedents of leader-member exchange quality. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25(6), 561-577.
- Major, D. A., & Morganson, V. J. (2011). Coping with work-family conflict: A leader-member exchange perspective. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *16*(1), 126-138.

- Maslachi, C., Jackson, S. E., & Leiter, M. P. (1996). *MBI Maslach Burnout Inventory*. CPP, Incorporated.
- McNamee, S., & Gergen, K. J. (1999). *Relational responsibility: Resources for Sustainable Dialogue*. Sage.
- Mead, N. L., & Maner, J. K. (2012). On keeping your enemies close: Powerful leaders seek proximity to ingroup power threats. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 102(3), 576-591.
- Measelle, J. R., Stice, E., & Springer, D. W. (2006). A prospective test of the negative affect model of substance abuse: moderating effects of social support. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 20(3), 225-233.
- Mendelson, M. J., & Kay, A. C. (2003). Positive feelings in friendship: Does imbalance in the relationship matter? *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *20*(1), 101-116.
- Merchant, L. V., & Whiting, J. B. (2017). A grounded theory study of how couples desist from intimate partner violence. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 1-16.
- Methot, J. R., Lepine, J. A., Podsakoff, N. P., & Christian, J. S. (2015). Are workplace friendships a mixed blessing? Exploring tradeoffs of multiplex relationships and their associations with job performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 69, 311–355.
- Molm, L. D., Quist, T. M., & Wiseley, P. A. (1994). Imbalanced structures, unfair strategies:Power and justice in social exchange. *American Sociological Review*, 98-121.
- Montgomery, B. M. (1993). Relationship maintenance versus relationship change: A dialectical dilemma. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *10*(2), 205-223.
- Montgomery, B. M., & Baxter, L. A. (1998). *Dialectical approaches to studying personal relationships*. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Moore, J. E. (2000). One road to turnover: An examination of work exhaustion in technology professionals. *MIS Quarterly*, 141-168.
- Morrison, E. W. (2002). Newcomers' relationships: The role of social network ties during socialization. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45(6), 1149-1160.
- Morrison, R. L., & Nolan, T. (2007). Too Much of a Good Thing? Difficulties with Workplace Friendships. *University of Auckland Business Review*, 9(2), 32-34, 36-41.
- Morrison, R., & Cooper-Thomas, H. (Eds.). (2013). *Relationships in organizations: a work psychology perspective*. Springer.
- Morrison, R., & Wright, S. (Eds.). (2009). *Friends and enemies in organizations: a work psychology perspective*. Springer.
- Mossholder, K. W., Settoon, R. P., & Henagan, S. C. (2005). A relational perspective on turnover: Examining structural, attitudinal, and behavioral predictors. *Academy of Management Journal*, *48*(4), 607-618.
- Mueller, B. H., & Lee, J. (2002). Leader-member exchange and organizational communication satisfaction in multiple contexts. *The Journal of Business Communication*, 39(2), 220-244.
- Murphy, C., Klotz, A. C., & Kreiner, G. E. (2017). Blue skies and black boxes: The promise (and practice) of grounded theory in human resource management research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(2), 291-305.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2012). *Mplus statistical modeling software: Release 7.0. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.*

- Nahrgang, J. D., & Seo, J. J. How and Why High Leader–Member Exchange (LMX) Relationships Develop. In Bauer & Erdogan (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Leader-Member Exchange*, 87-118. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nahrgang, J. D., Morgeson, F. P., & Ilies, R. (2009). The development of leader–member exchanges: Exploring how personality and performance influence leader and member relationships over time. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 108(2), 256-266.
- Naidoo, L. J., Scherbaum, C. A., Goldstein, H. W., & Graen, G. B. (2011). A longitudinal examination of the effects of LMX, ability, and differentiation on team performance. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 26(3), 347-357.
- Oh, J. K., & Farh, C. I. (2017). An emotional process theory of how subordinates appraise, experience, and respond to abusive supervision over time. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(2), 207-232.
- Osaka, N., Minamoto, T., Yaoi, K., & Osaka, M. (2011). S4. 3 Effect of negative and positive emotion on working memory performance: an fMRI study. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122, S11-S12.
- Overall, N. C., Hammond, M. D., McNulty, J. K., & Finkel, E. J. (2016). When power shapes interpersonal behavior: Low relationship power predicts men's aggressive responses to low situational power. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *111*(2), 195-217.
- Oyamot Jr, C. M., Fuglestad, P. T., & Snyder, M. (2010). Balance of power and influence in relationships: The role of self-monitoring. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(1), 23-46.

- Pearce, C. L., & Conger, J. A. (2003). All those years ago. *Shared leadership: Reframing the Hows and Whys of Leadership*, 1-18.
- Peirce, R. S., Frone, M. R., Russell, M., Cooper, M. L., & Mudar, P. (2000). A longitudinal model of social contact, social support, depression, and alcohol use. *Health Psychology*, 19(1), 28-38.
- Pelled, L. H., Eisenhardt, K. M., & Xin, K. R. (1999). Exploring the black box: An analysis of work group diversity, conflict and performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(1), 1-28.
- Pellegrini, E. K., & Scandura, T. A. (2008). Paternalistic leadership: A review and agenda for future research. *Journal of Management*, 34(3), 566-593.
- Perlman, E. & Carcedo, R.J. (2010). Overview of the dark side of relationships research. In Cupach & Spitzberg (Eds.). *The Dark Side of Close Relationships II*, 1-37. New York: Routledge.
- Pistole, M. C. (1989). Attachment in adult romantic relationships: Style of conflict resolution and relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 6(4), 505-510.
- Podsakoff, N. P., LePine, J. A., & LePine, M. A. (2007). Differential challenge stressorhindrance stressor relationships with job attitudes, turnover intentions, turnover, and withdrawal behavior: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(2), 438-454.
- Ragins, B. R., & Scandura, T. A. (1997). The way we were: gender and the termination of mentoring relationships. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(6), 945-953.
- Rawlins, W. K. (1983). Negotiating close friendship: The dialectic of conjunctive freedoms. *Human Communication Research*, 9(3), 255-266.

- Rawlins, W. K. (1992). Friendship matters: Communication, dialectics, and the life course.Transaction Publishers.
- Reijntjes, A., Kamphuis, J. H., Prinzie, P., & Telch, M. J. (2010). Peer victimization and internalizing problems in children: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 34(4), 244-252.
- Restubog, S. L. D., Bordia, P., & Bordia, S. (2011). Investigating the role of psychological contract breach on career success: Convergent evidence from two longitudinal studies. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79(2), 428-437.
- Richardson, H. A., & Taylor, S. G. (2012). Understanding input events: A model of employees' responses to requests for their input. *Academy of Management Review*, *37*(3), 471-491.
- Rios, K., Fast, N. J., & Gruenfeld, D. H. (2015). Feeling high but playing low power, need to belong, and submissive behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 41(8), 1135-1146.
- Rizzo, J. R., House, R. J., & Lirtzman, S. I. (1970). Role conflict and ambiguity in complex organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 150-163.
- Rose, A. J. (2002). Co–rumination in the friendships of girls and boys. *Child Development*, 73(6), 1830-1843.
- Sahlstein, E., & Dun, T. (2008). "I Wanted Time to Myself and He Wanted to be Together All the Time": Constructing Breakups as Managing Autonomy-Connection. *Qualitative Research Reports in Communication*, 9(1), 37-45.
- Scandura, T. A., & Graen, G. B. (1984). Moderating effects of initial leader-member exchange status on the effects of a leadership intervention. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69(3), 428-436.

- Scandura, T. A., Graen, G. B., & Novak, M. A. (1986). When managers decide not to decide autocratically: An investigation of leader–member exchange and decision influence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(4), 579-584.
- Scrimin, S., Mason, L., & Moscardino, U. (2014). School-related stress and cognitive performance: A mood-induction study. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 39(4), 359-368.
- Sears, G. J., & Hackett, R. D. (2011). The influence of role definition and affect in LMX: A process perspective on the personality–LMX relationship. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 84(3), 544-564.
- Sherony, K. M., & Green, S. G. (2002). Coworker exchange: relationships between coworkers, leader-member exchange, and work attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(3), 542-548.
- Sias, P. M. (2004). Disengaging from workplace relationships. *Human Communication Research*, *30*(4), 589-602.
- Sias, P. M. (2006). Workplace friendship deterioration. In Fritz, J. M. H., & Omdahl, B. L. (Eds.). *Problematic Relationships in the Workplace* (Vol. 1), 69-87. Peter Lang.
- Sias, P. M. (2009). Organizing relationships: Traditional and emerging perspectives on workplace relationships. Sage.
- Sias, P. M., & Cahill, D. J. (1998). From coworkers to friends: The development of peer friendships in the workplace. Western Journal of Communication (includes Communication Reports), 62(3), 273-299.

- Sias, P. M., Gallagher, E. B., Kopaneva, I., & Pedersen, H. (2012). Maintaining workplace friendships: Perceived politeness and predictors of maintenance tactic choice. *Communication Research*, 39(2), 239-268.
- Sias, P. M., Heath, R. G., Perry, T., Silva, D., & Fix, B. (2004). Narratives of workplace friendship deterioration. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *21*(3), 321-340.
- Sias, P.M., & Jablin, F. M. (1995). Differential superior-subordinate relations, perceptions of fairness, and coworker communication. *Human Communication Research*, *22*(1), 5-38.
- Simpson, J. A., Farrell, A. K., Oriña, M. M., & Rothman, A. J. (2015). Power and social influence in relationships. *APA Handbook of Personality and Social Psychology*, *3*, 393-420.
- Sin, H. P., Nahrgang, J. D., & Morgeson, F. P. (2009). Understanding why they don't see eye to eye: An examination of leader-member exchange (LMX) agreement. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(4), 1048-1057.
- Sluss, D. M., & Ashforth, B. E. (2007). Relational identity and identification: Defining ourselves through work relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(1), 9-32.
- Smith, W. K., & Lewis, M. W. (2011). Toward a theory of paradox: A dynamic equilibrium model of organizing. *Academy of Management Review*, 36(2), 381-403.
- Sparrowe, R. T., & Liden, R. C. (1997). Process and structure in leader-member exchange. *Academy of Management Review*, 22(2), 522-552.
- Sparrowe, R. T., & Liden, R. C. (2005). Two routes to influence: Integrating leader-member exchange and social network perspectives. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 50(4), 505-535.

- Spector, P. E. (2013). Introduction: The dark and light sides of organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *34*(4), 540-541.
- Sprecher, S. (1992). How men and women expect to feel and behave in response to inequity in close relationships. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 57-69.
- Sprecher, S., & Felmlee, D. (2000). Romantic partners' perceptions of social network attributes with the passage of time and relationship transitions. *Personal Relationships*, 7(4), 325-340.
- Stogdill, R. M. (1974). Handbook of leadership: A survey of theory and research. Free Press.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: Procedures and techniques for developing grounded theory. Sage.
- Tepper, B. J., Carr, J. C., Breaux, D. M., Geider, S., Hu, C., & Hua, W. (2009). Abusive supervision, intentions to quit, and employees' workplace deviance: A power/dependence analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 109(2), 156-167.
- Thoresen, C. J., Kaplan, S. A., Barsky, A. P., Warren, C. R., & de Chermont, K. (2003, November). The affective underpinnings of job perceptions and attitudes: a meta-analytic review and integration. In *17th Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Toronto, ON, Canada; An earlier version of this study was presented at the aforementioned conference.* (Vol. 129, No. 6, p. 914). American Psychological Association.
- Tiedens, L. Z., & Fragale, A. R. (2003). Power moves: complementarity in dominant and submissive nonverbal behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(3), 558-568.

- Tierney, P., Farmer, S. M., & Graen, G. B. (1999). An examination of leadership and employee creativity: The relevance of traits and relationships. *Personnel psychology*, 52(3), 591-620.
- Tordera, N., González-Romá, V., & Peiró, J. M. (2008). The moderator effect of psychological climate on the relationship between leader–member exchange (LMX) quality and role overload. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 17(1), 55-72.
- Townsend, J., Phillips, J. S., & Elkins, T. J. (2000). Employee retaliation: The neglected consequence of poor leader–member exchange relations. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5(4), 457-463.
- Uhl-Bien, M., & Maslyn, J. M. (2003). Reciprocity in manager-subordinate relationships: Components, configurations, and outcomes. *Journal of Management*, *29*(4), 511-532.
- Van Dam, K., Oreg, S., & Schyns, B. (2008). Daily work contexts and resistance to organizational change: The role of leader–member exchange, development climate, and change process characteristics. *Applied psychology*, 57(2), 313-334.
- Van Der Vegt, G. S., Bunderson, J. S., & Oosterhof, A. (2006). Expertness diversity and interpersonal helping in teams: Why those who need the most help end up getting the least. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(5), 877-893.
- Van Dyne, L., & LePine, J. A. (1998). Helping and voice extra-role behaviors: Evidence of construct and predictive validity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41(1), 108-119.
- Vandenberghe, C., Panaccio, A., Bentein, K., Mignonac, K., & Roussel, P. (2011). Assessing longitudinal change of and dynamic relationships among role stressors, job attitudes, turnover intention, and well-being in neophyte newcomers. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *32*(4), 652-671.

- VanderDrift, L. E., Agnew, C. R., Harvey, S. M., & Warren, J. T. (2013). Whose intentions predict? Power over condom use within heterosexual dyads. *Health Psychology*, 32(10), 1038-1046.
- Venkataramani, V., Green, S. G., & Schleicher, D. J. (2010). Well-connected leaders: the impact of leaders' social network ties on LMX and members' work attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(6), 1071-1084.
- Vidyarthi, P. R., Liden, R. C., Anand, S., Erdogan, B., & Ghosh, S. (2010). Where do I stand? Examining the effects of leader-member exchange social comparison on employee work behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 849-861.
- Vorauer, J. D., & Sucharyna, T. A. (2013). Potential negative effects of perspective-taking efforts in the context of close relationships: Increased bias and reduced satisfaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *104*(1), 70-86.
- Wang, H., Law, K. S., Hackett, R. D., Wang, D., & Chen, Z. X. (2005). Leader-member exchange as a mediator of the relationship between transformational leadership and followers' performance and organizational citizenship behavior. *Academy of Management Journal*, 48(3), 420-432.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 1063-1070.
- Wayne, S. J., & Ferris, G. R. (1990). Influence tactics, affect, and exchange quality in supervisor-subordinate interactions: A laboratory experiment and field study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(5), 487-499.

- Wendt, A. (1994). Collective identity formation and the international state. *American Political Science Review*, 384-396.
- Wilhelmy, A., Kleinmann, M., König, C. J., Melchers, K. G., & Truxillo, D. M. (2016). How and why do interviewers try to make impressions on applicants? A qualitative study. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 101(3), 313-332.
- Williams, L. J., & Anderson, S. E. (1991). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment as predictors of organizational citizenship and in-role behaviors. *Journal of Management*, 17(3), 601-617.
- Wilson, K. S., Sin, H. P., & Conlon, D. E. (2010). What about the leader in leader-member exchange? The impact of resource exchanges and substitutability on the leader. *Academy* of Management Review, 35(3), 358-372.
- Wright, T. A., & Bonett, D. G. (1997). The contribution of burnout to work performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 491-499.
- Wright, T. A., & Cropanzano, R. (1998). Emotional exhaustion as a predictor of job performance and voluntary turnover. *Journal of Applied psychology*, *83*(3), 486-493.
- Young, M. A., & Kleist, D. M. (2010). The relationship process in healthy couple relationships: A grounded theory. *The Family Journal*, *18*(4), 338-343.
- Yukl, G., & Fu, P. P. (1999). Determinants of delegation and consultation by managers. *Journal* of Organizational Behavior, 20, 219-232.
- Yukl, G., Gordon, A., & Taber, T. (2002). A hierarchical taxonomy of leadership behavior:
 Integrating a half century of behavior research. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(1), 15-32.

- Yukl, G., O'Donnell, M., & Taber, T. (2009). Influence of leader behaviors on the leadermember exchange relationship. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24(4), 289-299.
- Zhang, Y., & Epley, N. (2009). Self-centered social exchange: differential use of costs versus benefits in prosocial reciprocity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97(5), 796-810.
- Zhang, Y., Waldman, D. A., Han, Y. L., & Li, X. B. (2015). Paradoxical leader behaviors in people management: Antecedents and consequences. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(2), 538-566.
- Zimmer, C. (1986). Entrepreneurship through social networks. *The Art and Science of Entrepreneurship. Ballinger, Cambridge, MA*, 3-23.
- Zorn, T. (1995). Bosses and buddies: Constructing and performing simultaneously hierarchical and close friendship relationships. In Wood, J.T & Duck, S. (Eds), Understudied Relationships off the Beaten Track, 123-147. London: Sage.